
Planning, Access and Rights of Way  - 7 September 2021 1

A G E N D A

31 August 2021

Dear Member,

A meeting of the PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY will be held 
remotely on Tuesday, 7th September, 2021 at 10.00 am when your attendance is 
requested.

Yours sincerely

Catherine Mealing-Jones
Chief Executive

Please ensure you mute your microphone during the meeting until the Chair 
invites you to speak.  

Should there be a comfort break during the meeting please ensure your 
microphone is on mute and that your camera is switched off.

AGENDA

ENC1 Apologies for Absence 

ENC2 Chairman's Announcements 

ENC3 Declarations of Interest 

To receive any declarations of interest from members relating to items on the 
agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 
sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 
specifying the nature of the interest.

 
If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that 
you inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can 
be recorded in the minutes
 

ENC4 Minutes of last meeting (Pages 1 - 6)

To authorise the Chairman to sign the Minutes of the Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee held on the 6th 

Public Document Pack



Planning, Access and Rights of Way  - 7 September 2021 2

July 2021.
 

ENC5 Confirmed Minutes LAF 3rd Meeting 8th April 2021 (Pages 7 - 10)

Report for noting
 

ENC6 Development Control Reports for Decision 

To receive a report on Non-delegated Applications
 

ENC7 Non Delegated Report 21 19717 FUL Bolgoed Maen Farm (Pages 11 - 
44)

ENC8 Development Control Related Matters for Noting 

Item 1  Committee Delegated List Sept 2021 (Pages 45 - 54)

Item 2  Agricultural Notifications Delegated to the National Park Officers Sept 2021 
(Pages 55 - 56)

Item 3  Fringe Applications Sept 2021 (Pages 57 - 68)

Item 4  PAROW Planning Obligation Report August 2021 (Pages 69 - 70)

Item 5  PAROW Development Management Statistics July 2021 (Pages 71 - 72)

Item 6  Enforcement July figures 2021 (Pages 73 - 76)

ENC9 Enforcement Reports 

Access to Information
 
Resolved that pursuant to the provisions of Section 100A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the Meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 12, 13, 17 and 18 of Part 
4 of Schedule 12A of the above Act and the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

Item 1  20210907  Exemption Certificate - Enforcement Delegated Decision Reports 
(Pages 77 - 78)

Item 2  ENF PAROW Report  September 2021 - Confidential (Pages 79 - 102)



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 1 6 July 2021

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY PLANNING, 
ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY HELD VIRTUALLY ON TUESDAY, 6TH JULY, 2021

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr E Roderick (Deputy Chair), Cllr M Jones and Cllr Ratcliffe

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb

Torfaen County Borough

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Julian Stedman (Chair), Mr Christopher Coppock, Canon Aled Edwards, Sue Holden and Mr 
James Marsden

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies were received from Cllr S McNicholas, Cllr A James and Ms L Davis.  The 
Clerk advised that new members Cllr I McIntosh, Cllr J Williams and Cllr J Amos were 
not eligible to attend the meeting as they have yet to complete the required planning 
training.

2 Chairman's Announcements 

The Chair asked Mr Alan Southerby, Consultant DM Manager, to advise regarding 
recruitment.  Mr Southerby welcomed new Planning Officer, Mr Rhys Pritchard, who 
comes to us straight from University of Birmingham and has been in post for a few 
weeks.  Mr Southerby advised there is further recruitment underway.
 
The Chair bid farewell and thanked Mr Joshua Burrows, Planning Officer, for his hard 
work in the team in his four years with us and wished him well at Caerphilly County 
Borough Council.
 

Page 1

ENC4



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 2 6 July 2021

The Chair advised Members that today is the last PAROW meeting for Mr Sean 
O’Connor, Monitoring Officer, and thanked him for his hard work during his time with 
us.  He also welcomed Mr Marc Ronan, who joins us as our Monitoring Officer/Solicitor.

3 Declarations of Interest 

Cllr J Hill, Cllr G Thomas and Cllr S Evans asked the Monitoring Officer for clarity on 
items in which they were unsure if they should declare an interest.  Mr O’Connor advised 
they do not need to declare an interest but it would be noted for transparency that there 
are items on the agenda that are linked to their Unitary Authorities.
 
The Committee Clerk advised that all Members present will be declaring a personal 
interest in application 20/19375/FUL (Foel Deg Track), Encl 5 Item 1 as this is an authority 
application.
 

Name Enc Item Nature of Interest
Mr J Stedman 5 1 Personal
Cllr E Roderick 5 1 Personal
Cllr M Jones 5 1 Personal
Cllr G Ratcliffe 5 1 Personal and non-prejudicial
Cllr J Hill 5 1 Personal
Cllr G Thomas 5 1 Personal
Cllr A Webb 5 1 Personal
Cllr S Evans 5 1 Personal
Ms S Holden 5 1 Personal
Mr C Coppock 5 1 Personal
Mr J Marsden 5 1 Personal
Canon A Edwards 5 1 Personal

 

4 Minutes of last meeting 

The Chairman was authorised to sign the Minutes of the Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee held on 11th May 2021 as a 
correct record.
 
The Chairman was authorised to sign the Minutes of the Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority Planning, Access and Rights of Way Virtual Site Visit held on 11th May 2021 as 
a correct record.
  

5 Development Management Reports for Decision 

1. 20/19375/FUL – Modify existing access track by means of 
tarmacadam surfacing, swale drainage, relocation of 
cattle grid and landscaping areas – Foel Deg Track, 
Upper Brynamman, Ammanford, Carmarthenshire, 
SA18 1NQ

  
 All Members present declared a personal interest in this item and 

remained in the meeting, with the exception of Cllr G Ratcliffe who 

Page 2



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 3 6 July 2021

declared a personal and non-prejudicial interest but also remained in 
the meeting.
 
The Members were provided with a detailed presentation by Mr 
Alan Southerby, Consultant DM Manager, on behalf of the Case 
Officer, Miss Lisa Hughes.

  
Late info: None.
  
Public 
Speakers:

None.

  
Proposal: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions 

set out in the report was put to Members.
  
 Proposed: Cllr A Webb Seconded: Cllr S Evans
  
Decision: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions 

set out in the report was agreed.
  
2. 21/19707/FUL – Erection of new roof structure to cover 

an existing manure storage yard – Penyrheol Farm, 
Pengenffordd, Talgarth, Powys, LD3 0EY

  
 The Members were provided with a brief presentation by the 

Case Officer, Mr Ryan Thomas.
  
Late info: None.
  
Public
Speakers:

Ms Rhian Powell, Agent, was unable to join the meeting, Mr Alan 
Southerby, Consultant DM Manager, read the text on her behalf 
in support of the application.  A copy of the text had been 
provided for the file.
 
Cllr E Roderick had to withdraw from the meeting due to technical 
issues.

  
Proposal: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions 

set out in the report, including the amendment to Condition 6 to 
read ‘The management of manure at the site shall be undertaken 
in accordance with the Manure Management Plan (submitted to 
the authority on the 28th May 2021)  and in accordance with The 
Code of Good Agricultural Practice 2011. No manure shall be 
spread within 10 metres of any watercourse on the farm holding’ 
was put to Members.

  
 Proposed: Mr J Marsden Seconded: Cllr G Ratcliffe
  
Decision: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions 

set out in the report, including the amendment to Condition 6 to 

Page 3



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 4 6 July 2021

read ‘The management of manure at the site shall be undertaken 
in accordance with the Manure Management Plan (submitted to 
the authority on the 28th May 2021)  and in accordance with The 
Code of Good Agricultural Practice 2011. No manure shall be 
spread within 10 metres of any watercourse on the farm holding’ 
was agreed.

 
The Chair suggested that Members take a ten minute comfort break, it is noted that all eleven 
Members now present in the meeting returned after the break.

 
6 Development Management Related Matters for Noting 

Item 1 Delegated Applications Report
  
 The report was noted.
  
Item 2 Agricultural Notifications Report
  
 The report was noted.
  
Item 3 Fringe Notifications
  
 Ms S Holden withdrew from the meeting to attend a prior engagement.

 
A brief update was provided by Mr Chris O’Brien, MRTPI Senior 
Policy Officer, gave a brief update of items within this report.
 
The report was noted.

  
Item 4 Appeals Summary Report
  
 Mr Alan Southerby, Consultant DM Manager, gave a brief update with 

regard to the appeal 21/19600/FUL.
 
The report was noted.

  
Item 5 Planning Obligations Report
  
 The report was noted.
  
Item 6 Development Management Statistics Report
  
 The report was noted.
  
Item 7 Enforcement Figures
  
 The report was noted. 

 

Page 4



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 5 6 July 2021

8 Enforcement Reports 

Access to Information
 
Resolved that pursuant to the provisions of Section 100A of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the Meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
Paragraphs 12, 13, 17 and 18 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the above Act and the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.
 

Item 1 Enforcement Delegated Reports
  
 The contents of the report were noted.
  
Item 2 ENF/20/02174/MCUP2
  
 The Members were provided with a detailed presentation by Mr 

Alan Southerby, Consultant DM Manager, on behalf of the Case 
Officer, Miss Lisa Hughes.

  
Proposal: The Officer recommendation as set out in the confidential report 

was put to Members
  
 Proposed: Cllr G Ratcliffe Seconded: Cllr S Evans
  
Decision: The Officer recommendation as set out in the confidential report 

was agreed.
  
Item 3 Verbal update on Legal Challenge
  
 Mr Alan Southerby, Consultant DM Manager, gave an update to 

Members regarding this matter.
 
The update was noted.

  
Item 4 Verbal update on Appeal Costs Claim
  
 Mr Alan Southerby, Consultant DM Manager, gave an update to 

Members regarding this matter.
 
The update was noted.

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the Planning, Access and Rights of Way

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park Local Access Forum

Confirmed Minutes of the meeting of the 8th April at 2pm

Via Teams Video Conference

Present

Ian Mabberley (Chairman) (IM)
Karen Harris (KH)
Kath Whitrow (KW)
Colin Woodley (CW)
Ian Jenkins (IJ)
Steve Rayner (SR)
Phillipa Cherryson (PC)

Pam Bell (PB)
Ruth Pickvance (RP)
David Sharman (DS)
Denis Murphy (DM)
Stuart France (SF) – unable to continue due 
to connection issues.

Observers                                                                             Member of the public

NRW – Michael Smith   (MS)                                                    Phil O’Shea
BBNPA – Helen Lucocq (HL)
BBNPA – James Lawrence (JL)
BBNPA – Jason Rees (JR)

Secretary

Eifion Jones BBNPA

1 Welcome and Apologies – Chairman
IM welcomed members and observers to the online meeting. Apologies were 
received from Hywel Morgan, Deb Hughes and Toby Veall

2 Confirmation of Minutes of 1st & 2nd Meeting held on 10th December 2020 – 
Chairman
The minutes were accepted, and the Chairman authorised to sign them as a correct 
record.

3 Matters Arising Not Otherwise Appearing on Agenda – Chairman

IM asked about parking at Henrhyd Falls.

KW mention she had a call from the National Trust after a meeting asking her to join 
the Community Group and said they may be building a car park on their ground but, 
there has been nothing made official and no works have been undertaken.

Page 7

ENC5



JL said Powys County Council and National Trust are looking to undertake a joint 
project on the car park.
IM said he had presented the Annual Report to the Planning and Rights of Way 
Committee and it was accepted with thanks.

4 Access at Llyn y Fan Fach – Chairman

IM said the situation has not changed, and negotiations are still ongoing.

5 NRW management of visitors at its sites across the Park - Michael Smith

IM there has be no movement on this and explained the main issue was the present 
state of finances and an NRW manager will attend the next LAF meeting.
MS replied this was the case, but who that land manger would be is not clear yet.

6 National Park Management Plan - Helen Lucocq

IM introduced HL.
HL explained her role within the National Park and the need for a National Park 
Management Plan and gave a presentation on the Plan addressing three main points 
of its purpose being, the Issues, Vision and Objectives.

KW asked about the disparity of wages within the National Park, and the change of 
landscape seems to suggest a less industrialised landscape and how the two join up, 
in addition affects water quality and affordable housing.
HL the plan would address these with green growth industry and the development of 
future affordable housing and making sure rural jobs are paid accordingly and 
supported.
HL mentioned many decisions are made through consulting with the Stakeholder 
Group.
KW asked if she could join this group.
HL welcomed her offer.
IM asked JR to send a link to the National Park Management Plan
 https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/NPMP21-Vision-and-Objectives-
links-working.pdf

7 Update on the Waterfalls car park plans - James Lawrence

JL said they had put a variety of measures in over the weekend and explained the 
problems on the weekend was nothing that hadn’t already been encountered and 
they have worked with local landowners for extra parking. Also Highways Officers 
enforcing white lines and paid meet and greet staff and this all worked well, but it’s 
an ongoing project, also looking at sustainable travel and shuttle buses.

Page 8

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.beacons-npa.gov.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2FNPMP21-Vision-and-Objectives-links-working.pdf&data=04%7C01%7CJason.Rees%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7Cd8654cdeb007490bbdc908d904d1d980%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637546121598516107%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=Iri5TrI6KLgCjRZBRZHLH8Omx9dTVK56X%2B8OYFLhUU8%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.beacons-npa.gov.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2FNPMP21-Vision-and-Objectives-links-working.pdf&data=04%7C01%7CJason.Rees%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7Cd8654cdeb007490bbdc908d904d1d980%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637546121598516107%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=Iri5TrI6KLgCjRZBRZHLH8Omx9dTVK56X%2B8OYFLhUU8%3D&reserved=0


8 Woodland Creation schemes update - Nicola Davies

EJ explained ND could not be with us, so he would take this item.
EJ said ND has emailed him a document explaining about woodland creation and 
asked IM if he could email it to members.
IM agreed.

9 Access to water update - Steve Rayner

SR gave an update presentation on the National Access Forum to Water Group.
SR mentioned Welsh Government had asked National Access Forum to have a dialog 
on inland water issues and have also encouraged stakeholders to come up with 
practical solutions and if this was not successful in 18 months legislation could be 
brought in.
SR explained the groups’ members’ organisations and explained some the progress 
with agreed guided principles with stakeholder.

10 ROWIP update - Eifion Jones

EJ said the ROWIP grant funding had now been replaced with the Access 
Improvement Grant.
EJ explained most of last year’s funding has now been spent but there have been 
some problems with bridge installation over the winter.
EJ mentioned this year’s grant is almost £100,000 for access improvements and he 
has sent a work plan document to the Welsh Government for approval and is 
awaiting for a response. If successful he will share a full list of improvements with the 
members.

11 Rights of Way issues - Eifion Jones

EJ said he wanted to add to the point SR made on the access reform plan and said he 
was part of the steering group working on this with one meeting left. The advice to 
the Minister is nearly done and this will be more of a set of options than 
recommendations, but with the up and coming election it is unsure if the advice 
would be acted on.

12 Canals and Wellbeing ENRAW application - Eifion Jones

EJ mentioned there was not much more to say on this in addition to the last set of 
minutes, other than the application has been submitted and assessed and partners 
have been asked to provide more information. He reminded members this was a two 
year project worth just over £900,000

Page 9



13 Any other competent business – Chairman

IM asked for any other business.
There was no other business.

Next meeting date and time is provisionally 14.00 24th June

Page 10



Page 1 of 34

PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

Application Number: 21/19717/FUL Date Validated: 11 May 2021

Site Address: Bolgoed Maen Farm
Libanus
Brecon
Powys
LD3 8EL

Decision Due 
Date:

8 September 2021

Grid Ref: E: 299898  N:226524 Proposal: Change of use of 
former agricultural 
buildings to 2no. 
holiday let units of 
accommodation (Use 
Class C3) including 
alterations and 
associated works.

Case Officer: Davina Powell Community: Glyn Tarell

Reason(s) Application 
Reported to 
Committee:

Departure 

RECOMMENDATION: PERMIT subject to planning conditions

Page 11

ENC7



Page 2 of 34

1.  Site and Context
1.1 The application site is situated at the property known as Bolgoed Maen - which is outside the 

settlement boundary of Libanus and located in the countryside - as defined by the Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2013). 

1.2 The Bolgoed Maen farmhouse has recently been renovated and an extension built to the rear 
(this was subject to a previous planning application 18/16536/FUL). The farmhouse is located 
within an existing group of former farm buildings located adjacent to the farmhouse. The 
proposal being considered today relates to two near-by agricultural barns which form part of 
this group. 

1.3 Comments from the National Park Built Heritage officer confirm that the buildings and the 
farmhouse appear on the 1840 Tithe map for the Parish of Llanspythid, indicating that they are 
at least early 19th century in date.  The buildings are not included on the statutory list of listed 
buildings in Wales; however, as a group of vernacular stone buildings, they are of local historic 
interest.

1.4 The site is separated from neighbouring properties by agricultural fields and the nearest 
neighbouring property is approximately 180m away, to the south of the A470. A public right 
of way (footpath no. 34/3/1) crosses the existing farmyard.

1.5 The existing farmhouse dwelling is three storeys in height (third storey is within the roof 
space), with a rear single storey element finished with a ‘catslide’ roof and recently constructed 
modern extension. A watercourse runs to the south of the farmhouse.

1.6 Barn 1 is located closest to the farmhouse and is a traditional farm building, with walls 
constructed from stone and finished partly in lime wash, with a slate roof. Stone external steps, 
which are in a poor state of repair, are located along one of the barn’s side elevations. The 
front part of the building is the oldest and was present prior to the publication of the 1840 
Tithe map. A later addition wraps around the side and rear of the barn, although this is a 
historic, rather than modern extension.  The original use of the front appears to be for housing 
livestock with storage above.  A structural report has been submitted which states that the 
barn has no major or significant structural defects.

1.7 Barn 2 is located at a right-angle to barn 1 and creates a courtyard arrangement. The barn is 
roofless and the rear wall is in a ruinous condition. Both gables are reasonably intact (although 
there is a crack in one) and most of the front wall elevation remains - the rear elevation wall 
has largely collapsed.  There is a later lean-to structure with corrugated metal sheeting roof 
and timber clad walls to the front elevation of Barn 2. A lean-to structure is located to the 
side elevation too.

1.8 The property is accessed via an unclassified single carriageway track located off a lay-by on the 
A470 Trunk Road. Existing off-street car parking is available towards the front of the 
farmhouse and to the front of the barns.

1.9 The site is located within the River Usk Special Area of Conservation (SAC) catchment area.

2. Proposal 
2.1 Redevelopment of two existing barns within an existing courtyard associated with Bolgoed 

Maen to form two holiday lets.  Barn 1 is proposed to be converted to form a 3-bed holiday 
let. The barn is proposed to have no new openings (apart from 5 x very small conservation 
rooflights). Windows will be grey and aluminium and existing doors will be rehung to act as 
shutters for the windows. A structural report has been submitted which recommends the 
following work to be undertaken as part of a proposed conversion: 
1. Trail pits to determine the depth of stone formation levels for a new floor.
2. The rear retaining wall should either be tanked or exposed and ground levels around the 

perimeter lowered to avoid damp ingress.
3. External steps should be part taken down and re-built on new foundations tying into the 

gable walls. 
4. All new floors and existing floor joists and beams to be designed checked for new loadings 

and defective existing timers to be replaced locally or repaired.
5. Roof structure defective timbers to be replaced locally or repaired. 

Page 12



Page 3 of 34

6. Timber lintels showing decay should be replaced by suitably designed timber hardwood 
lintel. 

2.2 A bat loft is proposed within part of the roof space of barn 1. The location and scale of this 
loft was amended during the course of the planning application following comments from 
NRW and the National Park Planning Ecologist. The ground level around the rear of the barn 
is proposed to be lowered (as the existing ground level finishes part way up the rear elevation 
wall). A length of new hedgerow is proposed to be planted.  

2.3 Barn 2 is proposed to be re-built to form a 2-bed holiday let. The existing lean-to structure to 
the front is proposed to be retained and used as the entrance point into the building 
(accommodating a hall, utility and WC). The lean-to the side elevation is proposed to be used 
as a garage, plant/bin store area. A structural report has been submitted which outlines the 
following proposed work: 
1.    A new structural frame inside the stone walls providing enhanced additional restraint to 

the existing structure as well as supporting floor and roof structural elements. Raft 
foundations to be formed inside the walls to reduce the excavations for the foundations 
and floor slab. 

2.    Trail pits to determine the depth of stone, in order to determine the nominal depth of the 
raft foundation. 

3.   The north-east (rear) elevation wall will be reduced to the base and rebuilt by a competent 
stone mason up the eaves level. 

4.     Areas of the remaining gable stone walls and walls to the front shall be repaired/re-built 
by a competent stone mason. Loose and cracked mortar and pointing to be raked out 
and removed and replaced with an appropriate lime mortar.

5.   An identified crack in the north-west elevation wall (side) to be rebuilt locally and stitched 
to the corner with steel bars and cracked mortar and pointing to be raked out, removed 
and replaced with lime mortar. 

6.    A new lintel and wall about the doorway on the (front) south-west elevation and all loose 
and cracked mortar and pointing to be raked out, removed and replaced with lime 
mortar.

2.4 Windows will be grey and metal with hidden frames. Stonework will match the existing 
stonework. A simple dormer window is proposed within the north-east (rear) elevation, a 
new ground floor window in the north-east (rear) is proposed and a new window is proposed 
on the south-east gable elevation. Amendments were made to the size and nature of these 
openings during the course of the planning application, following initial comments from the 
National Park Built Heritage Officer. 

2.5 The proposal seeks to connect to an existing septic tank although it is proposed to install an 
additional BioKube plant that will treat the existing as well as the proposed foul water flowing 
from the site. This system is proposed to drain to ground and will serve the existing farmhouse 
as well as the two holiday lets. 

2.6 Vehicular access will be via the existing access track although it is proposed to move the 
existing gateway 5m from the edge of the carriageway, to lower the existing wall and vegetation 
on the approach into the site to achieve sufficient visibility. 

2.7 There is sufficient space for 6 no. car parking spaces on the courtyard adjoining the farmhouse 
and barns. An additional car parking space could also be accommodated within the garage 
associated with barn 2. 

3.  Planning History

App Ref Description Decision Date
18/16793/DISCON To discharge conditions pursuant to 

planning permission 18/16536/FUL - 
(conditions 3,5,6,7,8,9). Please find 
enclosed within this application:
Condition 3 Sample of materials to 
be delivered in box directly to 

Permit Dec 2018

Page 13



Page 4 of 34

planning dept office Monday 5th 
November 2018, Condition 5 
Surface water drawing enclosed 
1701- CD-02. This has been in 
conjunction with Powys Council land 
drainage officer (Simon Crowther) 
and Land Drainage consent form has 
been submitted to Powys Council. 
Condition 6 Biodiversity 
enhancement scheme report 
enclosed to be in conjunction with 
drawing no 1701-CD-03. Condition 
7 Conclusions and recommendations 
Section 4 Ecological report enclosed. 
Condition 8 Construction and 
Environmental Management plan 
report enclosed. This is to read in 
conjunction with 1701- CD-01 
Condition 9 See drawing 1701-CD-
04
In pursuant to planning reference 
18/16536/FUL Alterations and 
extension to an existing farmhouse.

18/16536/FUL Alterations and extension to an 
existing farmhouse

Permit 18th October 2018 

4.  Relevant Local and National Planning Policy

4.1 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan and Supplementary 
Planning Guidance

Policy no. Policy
SP1 National Park Policy
1 Appropriate Development in the National Park
3 Sites of European Importance
4 Sites of National Importance
5 Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation
6 Biodiversity and Development
7 Protected and Important Wild Species
10 Water Quality
12 Light Pollution
23 Sustainable Design in the Adaption and Re-use of Existing Buildings
57 Use of Non-Mains Sewerage Solutions
58 Sustainable Drainage Systems
CYD LP1 Enabling Appropriate Development
SP14 Sustainable Tourism 
45 New Buildings for Holiday Accommodation 
53 Planning Obligations
Householder Design Guide Supplementary Planning Guidance (April 2017)
Biodiversity and Development Supplementary Planning Guidance (September 2016)

Page 14



Page 5 of 34

Landscape and Development Supplementary Planning Guidance (October 2014)
Obtrusive Lighting and Light Pollution Supplementary Planning Guidance (March 2015)
Enabling Appropriate Development in the Countryside Supplementary Planning Guidance (2015 and 2019)

4.2    National Planning Policy and Guidance

Document

Future Wales: the National Plan 2040
Planning Policy Wales: 11th Edition (Feb 2021)

Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 

Technical Advice Note 6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010) 
Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2016) 

Technical Advice Note 13: Tourism (1997)
Technical Advice Note 18: Transport (2007) 

Technical Advice Note 23: Economic Development (2014)

Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment (2017)

5.  Summary of Consultation responses

Consultee Comments

NP Heritage Officer 
Building 
Conservation

The buildings at Bolgoed Maen Farm are a relatively rare, surviving example of a 
historic farmhouse and associated farm buildings grouped around a courtyard.  In 
addition, they are not encroached by large, modern farm buildings.  From a 
heritage perspective the buildings are considered to make an important 
contribution to the National Park's high quality landscape and built heritage.  A 
suitable new use and a sympathetic conversion that maintains the key components 
of their agricultural character can help to ensure that the barns will continue to 
contribute to the National Park's historic environment.  From a heritage 
perspective the principle of converting the two barns is therefore supported.

The proposed details for Barn 1 is supported.  The proposed conversion of Barn 2 
is less straight forward since is roofless and the rear wall is in a ruinous condition.  
However, although the barn is in poor condition, its original form can still be 
understood.  From a heritage perspective it is considered that it would be a loss in 
terms of the National Park's built heritage if the barn continues to deteriorate.  A 
suitable new use and sympathetic conversion can help to ensure a building's long 
term future. The treatment of the front and northwest elevation is supported but 
some amendments are needed in relation to the southeast and northeast 
elevations:
o The new opening on the southeast gable needs to be reduced in size to 
the proportions of a single door.

Page 15



Page 6 of 34

o The new ground floor window opening within the northeast elevation 
repositioned to move it further away from the end wall. 
Further details are required for the proposed roof dormer within the northeast 
roof slope. 

Glyn Tarrell 
Community Council

No comments received

Welsh Government 
Transport 
Department

I refer to your consultation of 29th March 2021 regarding the above application, 
and advise that the Welsh Government as highway authority for the A470 trunk 
road directs that planning permission is not granted at this time as the applicant 
has provided insufficient information to
determine the application.

The applicant must provide the following information to support this application 
or resubmit the application with the following details;

1) The applicant is required to submit visibility splay information in accordance 
with CD109 and CD123 of the DMRB.
2) The applicant is required to submit Stopping Sight Distance information in 
accordance with CD109 and CD123 of the DMRB.

The applicant is required to demonstrate in addition to forward visibility of the 
layby access, the maximum achievable forward visibility that can be achieved from 
the trunk road to the existing site access.

NP Planning Ecologist The development proposals are for the change of use of two former agricultural 
buildings to two holiday let units of accommodation. The works include 
conversion of and alterations to the existing buildings as well as associated works 
for foul water drainage and access.

An ecological survey report has been submitted detailing the findings of surveys 
undertaken in 2018, 2020 and 2021. There is evidence of lesser horseshoe bats 
using one of the barns as a night roost. 

Further information is required to address the following:
o Bats - the clarification of roosting locations and the proposed bat loft 
dimensions and bat access. The proposed loft may not be in the most suitable 
location.
o Access - a Construction and Environmental Management plan (CEMP) 
and confirmation that no hedgerow removal is required.
o A landscaping scheme and clarification of the extent of earthworks to the 
west of Barn 1
o An external lighting plan
o Full details of the proposed foul and surface water management at the 
site.

The proposed biodiversity enhancement measures are appropriate and welcomed.

The BBNPA will undertake a Habitats Regulations Assessment of the proposals 
once the information regarding foul and surface water drainage and the CEMP 

Page 16



Page 7 of 34

have been submitted.

Powys County 
Council 
Contaminated Land

Advice
1. The application proposal involves the conversion of an agricultural building to 
form a residential unit. Agricultural buildings and land could contain potential 
sources of contamination, depending on what they were used for in the past, such 
as: pesticides, fuels and oils, slurry tanks and pits, fire sites, animal burial pits or 
other buried waste, fertiliser, sheep dip pits, asbestos, old machinery, waste 
chemical drums and ammunition. Any building constructed before 2000 may have 
asbestos products which should be considered.
2. Paragraph 6.9.14, of Chapter 6 'Distinctive and Natural Places', of the Welsh 
Government document 'Planning Policy Wales' (2018) states: "Responsibility for 
determining the extent and effects of surface and subsurface risks remains with the 
developer. It is for the developer to ensure that the land is suitable for the 
development proposed, as a planning authority does not have a duty of care to 
landowners."
3. In respect of contaminated land paragraph 5.55, of the Welsh Government 
(WG) circular 'The Use of Planning Conditions for Development Management' 
(ref: WGC 016/2014), states that: "Conditions might also be imposed requiring 
the developer to draw to the attention of the planning authority the presence of 
significant unsuspected contamination encountered during redevelopment".
Furthermore, in paragraph 5.56 of the WG circular (ref: WGC 016/2014) it is 
stated: "The level of work required must be proportionate to the problems that 
are envisaged and the more onerous conditions should not be imposed as a 
matter of course."
4. Based on the available information and current planning guidance, it is 
recommended that the following condition and note, to the applicant, are attached 
to any permission granted for planning application:

Potential Contamination
In the event that the presence of contamination is encountered when carrying out 
the approved development immediate contact must be made with the local 
planning authority and works must cease in that area. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation 
scheme must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the local 
planning authority.
Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved 
remediation scheme, a verification report that demonstrates compliance with the 
agreed remediation objectives and criteria shall be produced, and is subject to the 
written approval of the local planning authority, prior to commencement of use of 
the development.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can 
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors [in accordance with policy ____ of the adopted Local Plan 
(date)].
Note to Applicant
Potential Contamination
The Council's guidance leaflet on the development of sites with potential land 
contamination is attached. Further advice on compliance with this condition may 
be obtained by contacting the Environmental Health Service on 01597 827645.

Page 17



Page 8 of 34

Sustainable Drainage 
Approval Body (SAB)

Having looked at the application and associated information the SAB can confirm 
that the site does not require SAB Approval as the proposals are utilising existing 
buildings and there does not appear to be a construction area in excess of 100m2.
 
We would welcome any SuDS elements to be incorporated within the drainage 
design.
 

Powys County 
Council Land 
Drainage 
Department

The Land Drainage Section does not have any comments to make.

Powys County 
Council Public 
Protection (consult 
Env Health)

I note that the agent/applicant is stating that an existing septic tank will be used 
with the above planning application. 
 
Environmental Protection however will still require further information to clarify if 
this existing septic tank is of a suitable size to accommodate the additional foul 
effluent that would be produced. 
 
The information should therefore demonstrate the size of the existing septic tank  
and include calculations of its current loading (number of persons who currently 
use the system) and the proposed additional loading (No of persons who will use 
the system if the proposed planning goes ahead).

Clwyd Powys 
Archaeological Trust

The Bolgoed Maen farmstead is shown on the 1840 Tithe Map for the parish of 
Llanspythid, suggesting the buildings here are at least around 180 years old.
The documents submitted with the application show that both barns are of rubble 
stone construction and are of at least local architectural and historical significance, 
contributing to the traditional stone vernacular in this area. Although the barns 
have been identified as traditional farm buildings in the regional Historic 
Environment Record, we currently know very little about the buildings otherwise.
The proposals appear to retain much of the original layout of the barns and while 
this is positive, it would be useful to obtain a record of the structures in their 
present form to ensure that elements of the historic layout, function, fixtures and 
fittings are recorded prior to their conversion. To alter the buildings without a 
basic record of their architectural style and current condition will result in the 
permanent loss of historic information. We would therefore advise that a Level 2 
building survey is undertaken prior to the works commencing to retain a record 
of the structures in their current condition. This is to comply with Section 6 of 
Planning Policy Wales (2021), Technical Advice Note 24 and Policies 1 & SP3 of 
the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNPA.
A suitable condition is supplied below.
Historic England Level 2 building survey
No development shall take place until a programme of building recording and 
analysis, equivalent to an Historic England Level 2 building survey, has been 
secured and implemented. The developer must ensure that a professionally 
qualified archaeological contractor is employed. To secure the programme of 
building recording and analysis the following must be undertaken:
a) Prior to the commencement of development a written scheme of investigation 
(WSI) must be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

Page 18



Page 9 of 34

authority. The WSI must meet the standards laid down by the Chartered Institute 
for Archaeologists in their 'Standard and Guidance for the archaeological 
investigation and recording of standing buildings or structures'.
b) The recording and analysis shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
WSI. Following the building recording and analysis and in accordance with a time 
frame set out in the approved WSI, a copy of the building recording and analysis 
report which meets the standards laid down by the Chartered Institute for 
Archaeologists in their Standard and Guidance for the archaeological investigation 
and recording of standing buildings or structures, shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for written approval. Following approval, the report will be 
submitted by the applicant to the local Welsh Archaeological Trust for inclusion in 
the Regional Historic Environment Record (HER).
Reason: To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2021), Technical 
Advice Note 24 and Policies 1 & SP3 of the adopted Local Development Plan for 
the BBNPA: To allow an adequate descriptive record of the buildings to be made, 
before they are converted, to ensure that the buildings origins, use and 
development are understood and the main features, character and state of 
preservation are recorded.
Attached to the accompanying e-mail is an advice note detailing the general 
requirements for a Level 2 building survey as well as information on 
commissioning archaeological work within the Brecon Beacons National Park.

NP Heritage Officer 
Building 
Conservation

Dormer window - northeast elevation
The applicant email dated 24.05.2021 states that the balustrading shown to the 
dormer to the northeast elevation will be omitted.  The amended elevation plan 
shows a simpler design.  The heritage comments dated 27.04.2021 did not object 
to the dormer and for this particular case, considered that a dormer could be 
acceptable provided that the detailing does not have a domestic character.  The 
omission of the balustrade and simplifying the design to reflect the barn's 
agricultural character is welcome.  
Ground floor window - northeast elevation
The amended plans for the northeast elevation show the new ground floor 
window repositioned so that it is away from the corner and it is alsoreduced in 
size to 900mm wide.  This amendment addresses the heritage comment in relation 
to the new window.  
New opening - southeast (gable) elevation
This elevation is currently blank, giving the barn a strongly solid appearance, which 
is an important element of its agricultural character.  As requested the proposed 
new opening has been reduced in size and is shown on the amended elevation 
drawing for the southeast elevation.
Conclusion and Recommendations
The amendments address the three points of concern raised in the heritage 
comments dated 27.04.2021.
As stated in the previous comments, from a heritage perspective the proposal to 
convert the barns is supported.  Barn 2 is in poor condition but its original form 
can still be understood.  The buildings at Bolgoed Maen Farm are a relatively rare 
surviving example of a historic farmhouse and associated farm buildings grouped 
around a courtyard.  In addition, there is no encroachment by large, modern farm 
buildings.  Although the buildings are not included on the statutory list of listed 
buildings in Wales, as a group of vernacular stone buildings, they are of local 
historic interest.  From a heritage perspective, the buildings are considered to 
make an important contribution to the National Park's high quality landscape and 
built heritage.  A suitable new use and a sympathetic conversion that maintains the 
key components of their agricultural character can help to ensure that the barns 
will continue to contribute to the National Park's historic environment.  It would 

Page 19



Page 10 of 34

be a loss to the National Park's built heritage and would diminish the group if the 
barn 2 is left to deteriorate.

NP Planning Ecologist Amendments and additional information have been submitted to address the 
ecological concerns previously raised. The location of the bat loft has been 
changed and is now better located to habitat connectivity with the wider 
landscape. Landscaping and lighting details have also been submitted that are 
acceptable.

The applicants have also amended the proposed foul water treatment system and 
it is now in accordance with the latest NRW guidance (May 2021): 
Private sewage treatment systems discharging domestic wastewater to ground, 
built to the relevant British Standard (BS 6297:2007+A1:2008) as long as the 
maximum daily discharge rate is less than 2 cubic metres (m³), the drainage field is 
located more than 40m from any surface water feature such as a river, stream, 
ditch or drain and is located more than 50m from a SAC boundary.
 
There is no ecological objection to approval of the application subject to the 
imposition of planning conditions and informative notes to safeguard and enhance 
nature conservation interests at the site. There is a requirement for hedgerow 
planting specifications to be agreed and this can be secured through a planning 
condition, although the applicants may wish to address this at an earlier stage.

The BBNPA has completed a Habitats Regulations Assessment of the proposals, 
which has been sent to NRW for consultation. The application cannot be 
approved until NRW have confirmed agreement with the conclusions of the 
BBNPA's Appropriate Assessment.

NP Strategy And 
Policy

Strategy and Policy have previously commented on the above application and 
having reviewed the additional information submitted by the applicants, I still have 
concerns that the proposed conversion of 'Barn 2' is not capable of conversion 
without major or complete reconstruction and therefore unable to meet the 
requirements of TAN 23. 

In reference to the additional planning statement submitted by the applicants on 
16th May 2021, which outlines the benefit of the conversion in terms of the 
historic setting of the buildings and the 'important historical and contextual 
relationship between Barn 1, Barn 2 and the courtyard', the observations from the 
Senior Heritage Officers (Buildings Conservation and Archaeology) are best placed 
to assess this and will be an important consideration in determining whether there 
is material planning considerations that justify the departure from policy.

Natural Resources 
Wales/Cyfoeth 
Naturiol Cymru

Thank you for consulting Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru / Natural Resources Wales 
(NRW) about the above, which we received on 19/05/2021.
We continue to have concerns with the application as submitted because 
inadequate information has been provided in support of the proposal. To 
overcome these concerns, you should seek further information from the applicant 
regarding protected species. If this information is not provided, we would object 
to this planning
application. Further details are provided below. 
Requirement: Further clarification on details of bat mitigation.

Page 20



Page 11 of 34

Protected Species 
We note the revisions to the plans and welcome the intention to provide a larger 
bat loft than previously indicated, now proposed to be located in the northern end 
of the building.
However, other issues we expressed in our previous letter (CAS-142750-N8X8 
dated 30/04/2021) regarding dimensions, materials and access do not seem to 
have been addressed or clarified. As a result, we are unfortunately, unable to 
accurately scale from the drawings provided and advise that there is insufficient 
information to assess potential effects on bats, and how any effects will be avoided 
or mitigated. We therefore advise that further detail is sought from the applicant 
on the proposed bat mitigation, including:
o the dimensions (height, width, length), volume and construction materials of the 
roost structure;
o the location and dimensions of any roost access points;
o and an indication of how access points and flight lines are to be kept dark.
In the meantime, we are unable to give you any assurance that the proposal would 
not be likely to be detrimental to the maintenance of the population of the species 
concerned at a favourable conservation status in its natural range
Protected Sites
In our previous letter CAS-142750-N8X8 dated 30/04/2021) we advised that the 
application site is within the catchment of the River Usk Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC). As you are aware, on the 21st January 2021, we published an 
evidence package outlining phosphorus levels for all river SACs across Wales. As 
part of this package, we issued a Planning Position Statement, in which we advised 
that any proposed  development that might increase the amount of phosphate (or 
phosphorus) within a river SAC catchment could lead to damaging effects to the 
SAC. Therefore, such proposals should be screened
through a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA), to determine whether they are 
likely to have a significant effect on the SAC.
We have reviewed the additional information submitted and note that the septic 
tank upgrade will be discharging to ground and running through a BioKube. The 
upgrade provides a betterment compared to the existing system in terms of a 
reduction in phosphorus. As a result, the application submitted is unlikely to 
increase the amount of phosphorus entering the catchment. Therefore, we are 
satisfied that the proposal is not likely to have a significant effect on the River Usk 
SAC.
Pollution Prevention
We have reviewed the Construction and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) 
submitted and consider that the report is satisfactory for the purposes of 
informing the public decision-making process. The CEMP report appropriately 
addresses pollution prevention measures.
Other Matters
Our comments above only relate specifically to matters included on our checklist, 
Development Planning Advisory Service: Consultation Topics (September 2018), 
which is published on our website. We have not considered potential effects on 
other matters and do not rule out the potential for the proposed development to 
affect other interests.
We advise the applicant that, in addition to planning permission, it is their 
responsibility to ensure they secure all other permits/consents/licences relevant to 
their development. Please refer to our website for further details.
If you have any queries on the above, please do not hesitate to contact us.

Powys County 
Council Building 
Regulations

No comments received

Page 21



Page 12 of 34

Powys County 
Council 
Environmental Health 
(consult Env Prot)

Having looked at the above proposed planning application, I confirm 
Environmental Health would not have any objections.

Welsh Government 
Transport 
Department

I refer to your consultation of 20/05/2021 regarding the above planning application 
and advise that the Welsh Government as highway authority for the A470 trunk 
road directs that any permission granted by your authority shall include the 
following conditions:
The minimum visibility distances available for vehicles emerging from the proposed 
access into the existing lay-by shall be 215m to the left of the access and 45m to 
the right at a height of 1.05 metres, measured to a point 0.26 metres above the 
nearer running edge of the trunk road
carriageway. These visibility distances shall be available at a point 2.4m from the 
nearer running edge of the trunk road, measured along the centreline of the 
access road. The visibility splay so formed shall be free of any growth or 
obstruction, which would interfere with the minimum
visibility requirements.
1) The above condition is included to maintain the safety and free flow of trunk 
road traffic. 
If you have any further queries, please forward to the following Welsh 
Government Mailbox 
NorthandMidWalesDevelopmentControlMailbox@gov.wales

NP Rights Of Way 
Officer

There is a public footpath across the courtyard area as is stated in the Design and 
Access Report.

The footpath should remain open and unobstructed throughout development 
work unless a risk assessment recommends otherwise. In which case, advice 
should be sought from the Rights of Way Team regarding temporary closure 
options.

NP Strategy And 
Policy

Strategy and Policy have no objection to the proposal for 'Barn 1' subject to 
occupancy conditions, however Strategy and Policy are of the opinion that the 
proposed conversion of 'Barn 2' is not capable of conversion without major or 
complete reconstruction and therefore unable to meet the requirements of TAN 
23 set out below. As such, this element should be refused.

Natural Resources 
Wales/Cyfoeth 
Naturiol Cymru

Thank you for consulting Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru / Natural Resources Wales 
about the above, which we received on 29/03/2021.
We have significant concerns with the proposed development as submitted. We 
recommend you should only grant planning permission if the following 
requirement is met. Otherwise, we would object to this planning application.
Requirement 1: Protected Species: We advise that further information is required 
to assess the extent of adverse effects on the bats and any avoidance or mitigation 
measures required.
Protected Species
We note that the bat report (Ecology Services, dated March 2021) has identified 
that bats are present at the application site. From the information submitted, we 

Page 22



Page 13 of 34

consider that the proposed development is likely to represent a higher risk for 
bats, as defined in our guidance
document 'Natural Resources Wales Approach to Bats and Planning (2015)'. Bats 
and their breeding and resting places are protected under the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.
Although the bat report has been submitted, we advise that there is insufficient 
information to assess potential effects on bats, and how any effects will be avoided 
or mitigated.
Requirement 1: Protected Species: We advise that further information is required 
to assess the extent of adverse effects on the bats and any avoidance or mitigation 
measures required.
 This must demonstrate that the proposed development would not be likely to be 
detrimental to the maintenance of the population of the species concerned at a 
favourable conservation status in its natural range.
While we welcome the intention to provide a bat loft within the main barn. We 
are, unfortunately, unable to accurately scale from the drawings provided 
(Drawings No. 1020- PD-03, 1020-PD-05, 1020-PD-06). In addition, no 
information on the construction materials
to be used have been provided to date. We therefore advise that further detail is 
sought from the applicant on the proposed bat mitigation, including:
o the dimensions (height, width, length), volume and construction materials of any 
roost structure;
o the location and dimensions of any roost access points;
o and an indication of how access points and flight lines are to be kept dark.
In the meantime, we are unable to give you any assurance that the proposal would 
not be likely to be detrimental to the maintenance of the population of the species 
concerned at a favourable conservation status in its natural range.
Proected Sites
We note the application site is within the catchment of the River Usk Special Area 
of Conservation (SAC). As you are aware, on the 21st January 2021, we published 
an evidence package outlining phosphate levels for all river SACs across Wales. As 
part of this package,
we issued a Planning Position Statement, in which we advised that any proposed 
development that might increase the amount of phosphate within a river SAC 
catchment could lead to damaging effects to the SAC. Therefore, such proposals 
should be screened
through a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA), to determine whether they are 
likely to have a significant effect on the SAC. We also issued Interim Planning 
Advice, which gives specific advice in respect of foul drainage arrangements for 
new developments.
We note from the information submitted that the proposal is to connect to the 
existing septic tank to provide foul drainage for the conversion of the barn to two 
holiday let unit. As such, we refer you to our Interim Planning Advice and confirm 
that provided this guidance is followed and you are able to conclude that the 
development is not likely to have a significant effect on the SAC, we have no 
objection to the proposal. However, should you conclude that the proposed 
development is likely to have a significant effect on the SAC, please consult us on 
your Appropriate Assessment under Regulation 63 of the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). 
Other Matters
Our comments above only relate specifically to matters included on our checklist, 
Development Planning Advisory Service: Consultation Topics (September 2018), 
which is published on our website. We have not considered potential effects on 
other matters and do not rule out the potential for the proposed development to 
affect other interests.

Page 23



Page 14 of 34

We advise the applicant that, in addition to planning permission, it is their 
responsibility to ensure they secure all other permits/consents/licences relevant to 
their development. Please refer to our website for further details.
Advice for the Developer
Pollution Prevention
Due to the proximity of the site to watercourses, all works at the site must be 
carried out in accordance with GPP5 and PPG6: 'Works in, near or over 
watercourses' and 'Working at construction and demolition sites' which are 
available on the following website: http://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-
topics/pollution-prevention-guidelinesppgs-and-replacement-series/guidance-for-
pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/
During the construction phase you should take any precaution to prevent 
contamination of surface water drains and local watercourses. Oils and chemicals 
should be stored in bunded areas and spill kits should be readily available in case of 
accidental spillages.
If you have any queries on the above, please do not hesitate to contact us.

Natural Resources 
Wales/Cyfoeth 
Naturiol Cymru

I relation to your query regarding the above proposal, as requested we have 
reviewed the following drawings by Jones Architects: 
 
o 1020-PD-11 / 14.05.2021 / Rev. 0 
o 1020-PD-08 / 10.05.2021 / Rev. A 
 
We welcome the submission of the above documents, which address our previous 
concerns. On the basis of the information in the documents named above, we do 
not consider that the development is likely to be detrimental to the maintenance 
of the population of the species concerned at a favourable conservation status in 
their natural range, provided that suitable mitigation measures are adhered to. 
 
In line with the 'Dear CPO' letter issued by Welsh Government on 1st March 
2018, we request that the following informative is attached to any planning 
permission granted by your Authority: 
 
Warning: A European Protected Species (EPS) licence is required for this 
development. 
This planning permission does not provide consent to undertake works that 
require an EPS licence. It is an offence to deliberately capture, kill or disturb EPS 
or to damage or destroy their breeding sites or resting places. If found guilty of 
any offences, you could be sent to prison for up to 6 months and/ or receive an 
unlimited fine. 
 
Development should not be commenced until the Applicant has been granted a 
licence by Natural Resources Wales pursuant to Regulation 55 of the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017) authorising the specified 
activity/ development to go ahead. To undertake the works within the law, you 
can obtain further information on the need for a licence from Natural Resources 
Wales on 0300 065 3000, or at https://naturalresources.wales/permits-and-
permissions/protected-species-licensing/european-protected-species-
licensing/information-on-european-protected-species-licensing/?lang=en . 
 
We may wish to discuss minor aspects of the proposed mitigation with the 
applicant in more detail at the EPS licence application stage. Please note that any 
changes to plans between planning consent and the EPS licence application may 
affect the outcome of the licence application.
 

Page 24



Page 15 of 34

Please refer to our previous letter attached (CAS-151851-V0B8 dated 14/06/2021) 
for further advice with regards to Protected Sites and Pollution Prevention. 

HRA Thank you for providing a copy of your Appropriate Assessment regarding 
application number 21/19717/FUL for the Change of use of former agricultural 
buildings to 2no. holiday let units of accommodation (Use Class C3) including minor 
alterations and associated works at Bolgoed Maen Farm, Libanus, Brecon, Powys, 
LD3 8EL.
 
We have read the HRA screening report and Appropriate Assessment and we agree 
with your conclusions and that as a result of the proposal there would be no adverse 
effects on the integrity of the River Usk SAC subject to the imposition of planning 
conditions as listed in the appropriate assessment. 

Copies of the full consultation responses can be found on our website at:  https://planningonline.beacons-
npa.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN

6. Third Party Representations

Number of objections 0

Number of representations 0

Number of supporting contributions 0

Number of original consultees 10

Number of contributors 0

6.1 The application has been advertised through the erection of a site notice, newspaper 
advertisement and direct neighbour notification. No objections or representations have been 
received.

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act places a duty on public bodies to carry 
out sustainable development to improve the way in which we achieve the social, economic, 
environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. The National Park must act in accordance 
with the sustainable development principle and seek to ensure that the needs of the present 
are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. As 
part of this duty public bodies must set and publish objectives which are designed to 
maximise its contribution to achieving each of the well-being goals. The 7 goals are:

 A prosperous Wales
 A resilient Wales
 A healthier Wales
 A more equal Wales
 A Wales of cohesive communities
 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
 A globally responsible Wales

7.2 The primary objective of Planning Policy Wales Edition 11 (2021) is to ensure that the 
planning system contributes towards the delivery of sustainable development and improves 

Page 25

https://planningonline.beacons-npa.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN
https://planningonline.beacons-npa.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN


Page 16 of 34

the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales as required by the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

7.3 Any recommendations made by the Strategy and Policy Team are made in line with the 
Strategic and individual policies within the adopted Local Development Plan. It is considered 
that the Local Development Plan has been prepared to ensure the sustainable development 
of the National Park, particularly in relation to Environmental protection, sustainable 
distribution of development, housing, economic well-being, sustainable tourism, sustainable 
communities, sustainable infrastructure and various other considerations.

8. Planning Obligations

8.1 Policy 53 of LDP and the Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) on Planning Obligations 
(July 2014) outline the local planning authority's approach to the provision of contributions 
to planning obligations. The SPG outlines that the development issues that the National Park 
seeks to manage are mostly more local than strategic in nature by reason of the relative scale 
of development within the National Park. No requirement for planning obligations has been 
identified.

9. Assessment

9.1 The first stage in assessing a development proposal is to establish the proposal against the 
Key Gateway Test –Strategic and Spatial Choices issues, set out in PPW. These issues are 
Placemaking (Good Design, Promoting Healthier Places, The Welsh Language, Sustainable 
Management of Natural Resources, Placemaking in Rural Areas) and Strategic Placemaking 
(Spatial Strategy and Search Sequence, Accessibility, New Settlements, Previously Developed 
Land, The Best and Versatile Agricultural Land, Development in the Countryside, Supporting 
Infrastructure, Managing Settlement Form). Only the relevant topics are assessed below.

9.2 Key Gateway Test – Strategic and Spatial Choices:
9.2.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires all development 

management decisions to be made in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations dictate otherwise. The Future Wales Plan and the LDP is the development 
plan for the purposes of 38(6) and specific material considerations must be identified to 
reasonably depart from its policies. 

9.2.2 Policy 26: Growing the Mid Wales Economy of the Future Wales Plan states that “the Welsh 
Government supports the growth and development of existing and new economic opportunities 
across Mid Wales...Strategic and Local Development Plans must develop policies that support 
agricultural and land bases traditional rural enterprises; and provide a flexible framework to support 
the development of new, innovative and emerging technologies and sectors”. 

9.2.3 Policy CYD LP1 of the LDP lists out the forms of development which will be permitted 
outside defined settlements (subject to all other LDP Policies), this includes: “1. Proposals 
that capitalise on improving the existing building stock and/or utilises previously developed land 
and/or re-uses redundant buildings, including: … b) Proposals to re-instate redundant buildings to 
the following beneficial uses i) commercial, sport and tourism or recreation use...”

9.2.4 Policy 45 of the LDP states that new buildings for holiday accommodation including hotels, 
hostels or guest houses will only be permitted where the proposed development is located 
within the development boundaries of defined settlements, on sites not allocated for other 
forms of development. 

9.2.5 Whilst not part of the statutory development plan, Technical Advice Note (TAN) 23: 
Economic Development is a material consideration and states “the re-use and adaptation of 
existing rural buildings has an important role in meeting the needs of rural areas for commercial 
and industrial development, and tourism, sport and recreation. In recognising this, local planning 
authorities are expected to adopt a positive approach to the conversion of rural buildings for 

Page 26



Page 17 of 34

business re-use, especially those buildings located within or adjoining farm building complexes on the 
basis that: 
 they are suitable for the specific use; 
 conversion does not lead to dispersal of activity on such scale as to prejudice town and village 

vitality; 
 their form, bulk and general design are in keeping with their surroundings; 
 imposing conditions on a planning permission overcomes any planning objections, for example 

on environmental or traffic grounds, which would otherwise outweigh the advantage of re-use; 
 if the buildings are in the open countryside, they are capable of conversion without major or 

complete reconstruction; 
 conversion does not result in unacceptable impacts upon the structure, form, character or 

setting where the building is of historic and / or architectural interest” (para. 3.2.1)
9.2.6     The proposal relates to two barns. Works to barn 1 are considered to be compliant with 

the Statutory Development Plan - the existing barn is substantially intact and the proposed 
works are considered to reasonably comprise a conversion. This is considered to meet the 
criteria set out in CYD LP1 which allows for “proposals to re-instate redundant buildings” to 
beneficial uses such as tourism. However, Barn 2 currently has only its two gable-ends 
substantially intact along with a side elevation wall, and part of a side elevation and no roof. 
The proposed works to make the barn capable of re-use are relatively extensive and are 
there considered to go beyond what would normally be considered a conversion. The 
works are therefore more readily considered a partial re-building of the barn. On this basis, 
the proposed works to barn 2 are not considered to be compliant with the Statutory 
Development Plan (namely Policy 45 which requires new buildings for holiday 
accommodation to be within defined settlements and Policy CYD LP1 which allows for 
"[tourism] proposals which re-instate redundant buildings” - on balance this proposal is 
considered to go beyond a re-instatement). Nevertheless, barn 2 is not an isolated building. 
It forms part of a distinct group of buildings which form part of a very definite farm 
complex which make a positive contribution to the National Park’s built heritage. TAN23 
states local planning authorities should adopt a positive approach to such proposals 
however the extent of re-building to barn 2 does mean the proposal is considered to not 
meet one of the six criteria listed in TAN23 - “...if the buildings are in the open countryside, 
they are capable of conversion without major or complete reconstruction...”. The extent of works 
to barn 2 are considered to be substantial.  However, there are material considerations 
relating to the particulars of this case in terms of the historic environment, the built 
heritage, design and economic impact, which are given more consideration below and 
which suggest that on balance a departure decision can be taken in this particular case. 

9.3       Good design 

9.3.1     Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11, December 2021) (PPW) states that “Good design is 
fundamental to creating sustainable places where people want to live, work and socialise. Design is 
not just about the architecture of a building but the relationship between all elements of the 
natural and built environment and between people and places. To achieve sustainable 
development, design must go beyond aesthetics and include the social, economic, environmental, 
cultural aspects of the development, including how space is used, how buildings and the public 
realm support this use, as well as its construction, operation, management, and its relationship with 
the surroundings area.”. 

9.3.2 PPW para 3.16 also states “planning authorities should through a process of negotiation seek to 
improve poor or average developments which are not well designed, do not take account of their 
context and consider their place, or do not meet the objectives of good design. Where this cannot 
be achieved proposals should be rejected. However, they should not attempt to impose a particular 
architectural taste or style arbitrarily and should avoid inhibiting opportunities for innovative design 

Page 27



Page 18 of 34

solutions. If a decision maker considers that a planning application should not be approved because 
of design concerns they should ensure that these reasons are clearly articulated in their decision 
and justified with sufficient evidence. In the event of an appeal, in these circumstances, the 
Planning Inspectorate will need to examine the issues in detail and consider if the proposal meets 
the objectives of good design including the relationship between the site and its surroundings”. 
Guidance on good design and place making is further expanded on in Technical Advice 
Note 12: Design (2016).

9.3.3 LDP Policy SP1 'National Park Policy' states that developments in the National Park will be 
required to comply with the purposes and statutory duty set out in legislation and will be 
permitted where it conserves and enhances the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage 
of the Park and/or provides for, or supports, the understanding and enjoyment of the 
special qualities of the National Park in a way that does not harm those qualities. 

9.3.4 LDP Policy 1 'Appropriate Development in the National Park' requires all proposals for 
development to comply with criteria which includes: “i) the scale, form, design, layout, density, 
intensity of use and use of materials will be appropriate to the surroundings and will maintain or 
enhance the quality and character of the Park's Natural Beauty, wildlife, cultural heritage and built 
environment” and “ii) the proposed development is integrated into the landscape to the satisfaction 
of the NPA through planting and appropriate management of native species or through the 
construction of appropriate boundary features”.

9.3.5  Bolgoed Maen is non-statutory designated property; and it would be considered a non-
designated heritage asset that contributes to the character of the National Park. The Tithe 
Map includes Bolgoed Maen and associated courtyard barns and the National Park Built 
Heritage officer notes that the buildings at Bolgoed Maen are a relatively rare surviving 
example of a historic farmhouse and associated farm buildings grouped around a courtyard 
with no encroachment by large, modern farm buildings. 

9.3.6   The application is accompanied by a Design and Access Statement (DAS), which offers the 
applicant’s justification in relation to the requirements for good design and place making. No 
change is proposed to the roof height of the barns (albeit that the gable heights on barn 2 
will be used to determine what the original roof height and pitch was of barn 2). The general 
materials palette and finishes are considered to be appropriate and the re-hanging of former 
doors, re-working of external stairs and use of lime mortar are considered positive 
architectural elements of the proposal’s design. The proposed works are considered to 
assist in re-using currently redundant former agricultural buildings and the re-building of 
barn 2 which (if done sympathetically) could restore the sense of enclosure and previous 
grouping around the courtyard. The applicant has also made a number of design 
amendments to proposed openings to barn 2 - to satisfy the National Park Built Heritage 
officer who now confirms support for the proposal from a heritage perspective. The officer 
notes that “a suitable new use and a sympathetic conversion that maintains the key components of 
their agricultural character can help to ensure that the barns will continue to contribute to the 
National Park’s historic environment. It would be a loss to the National Park’s built heritage and 
would diminish the group if Barn 2 is left to deteriorate”. 

9.3.7    On this basis, the proposed design for both barns are considered to be appropriately 
sympathetic, and a planning condition is proposed to be attached requiring a detailed 
scheme of conversion works to ensure strict control over the nature/extent of works (this 
is particularly important to retain as much of the original fabric of Barn 2 as possible). 
Furthermore, a planning condition requiring submission of details of materials has also been 
applied and a planning condition to control the appearance of the new areas of stonework 
on Barn 2. 

9.3.8    The environmental sustainability policy requirement is set in the LDP paragraph 3.16.1.4 
which is to meet at least the national standards set out in PPW. This requirement is set out 
in Policy SP11 ‘Sustainable Design’ of the plan. The minimum national sustainable building 
standards are largely delivered through the building regulations - a system of control outside 
the planning system. Nevertheless, the applicant has outlined some broad sustainability 
principles the proposal will follow, e.g. promoting energy conservation through layout of the 

Page 28



Page 19 of 34

buildings, positioning windows to maximise solar gain, use of high-quality insulation, facilities 
for rainwater harvesting, using recycled and sustainable sources of materials where possible 
and waste production to be minimised. 

9.3.9    Detailed consideration is given below to movement to and from the site and its compliance 
with the transport hierarchy. The proposal links into and can provide appropriate options 
for moving through the site and into the wider transport network.

9.3.10  Subject to these planning condition controls; the scheme’s proposed design is considered to 
be appropriate and supportive from a design and built heritage perspective.

9.4  The Welsh Language

9.4.1  It is considered that the proposal will not have an adverse impact on Welsh language use in   
accordance with Policy 52 ‘Welsh Language’.

9.5 Placemaking in Rural Areas and Development in the Countryside

9.5.1   PPW para 3.38 states: “The countryside is a dynamic and multi-purpose resource. In line with 
sustainable development and the national planning principles and in contributing towards 
placemaking outcomes, it must be conserved and, where possible, enhanced for the sake of its 
ecological, geological, physiographic, historical, archaeological, cultural and agricultural value and for 
its landscape and natural resources. The need to conserve these attributes should be balanced 
against the economic, social and recreational needs of local communities and visitors. Fostering 
adaptability and resilience will be a key aim for rural places in the face of the considerable 
challenge of maintaining the vibrancy of communities and availability of services as well as 
contributing to the Cohesive Communities well-being goal. This is coupled with ensuring the 
countryside is resilient to the impacts of climate change and plays a role in reducing the causes of 
climate change through the protection of carbon sinks and as a sustainable energy source in line 
with the Resilient Wales well-being goal”.

9.5.2  The proposal is located within an area of open countryside as defined by the LDP Proposals 
Map. The part of the proposal which relates to barn 2 is considered to not accord with 
Local Development Plan Policy 45 which requires new buildings for holiday accommodation 
to be within defined settlements and Policy CYD LP1 which allows for "[tourism] proposals 
which re-instate redundant buildings” - on balance this proposal is considered to go beyond a 
re-instatement. However, the proposal will assist in stopping any further structural 
deterioration of barn 2 and the barn 2 rebuilding and future use would restore the former 
enclosure around a courtyard related to the farmhouse which makes a positive 
contribution to the built heritage of the National Park. The proposal does not propose 
other significant enabling infrastructure within this open countryside location (such as new 
access roads, car parking areas etc) and the resultant use would fulfil a recreational need of 
visitors. The National Park Built Heritage officer is supportive of the proposal and similarly, 
the Clwyd-Powys Archaeological Trust (CPAT) has been consulted and confirms that the 
buildings are at least around 180 years old. The comments from CPAT recommend a 
planning condition is attached which requires a level 2 historic England building survey – 
this condition has been duly applied. 

9.6     Detailed Impact Assessment: 
9.6.1     This stage sets out the further factors to be considered. They are assessed against the PPW 

headings, which are shown below. However, only those relevant are discussed and these 
are as follows: Landscape and Visual Amenity, Biodiversity and Ecology, Water and Flood 
Risk, Transport, Lighting and De-risking and Neighbour Amenity.

9.7 Distinctive and natural places 
9.7.1      This theme includes the following issues: Environment, Green Infrastructure, Landscape, 

Page 29



Page 20 of 34

Biodiversity and Ecological Networks, Water and Flood Risk, Air Quality and Soundscape, 
Lighting and De-risking.

9.8        Landscape and Visual Amenity 
9.8.1      The conversion of barn 1 and re-building of barn 2 is focused around the existing farm 

complex at Bolgoed Maen. As such, whilst the appearance of barn 2 will change and the 
addition of a roof may make the barn slightly more prominent in the landscape this impact 
is not considered unacceptable given its position within an existing farm complex of 
buildings. 

9.9        Biodiversity and Ecology 
9.9.1      The National Park Planning Ecologist and NRW have commented on the planning 

application. 
9.9.1   A bat survey has been submitted as part of the planning application along with a method 

statement. The survey (complete with a later letter) is considered acceptable. 
9.9.2 A bat loft is proposed in the northern section of Barn 1, with two bat access points on the 

north and west-facing roofs. NRW do not consider that the development is likely to be 
detrimental to the maintenance of the population of the species concerned at a favourable 
conservation status in their natural range, provided that suitable mitigation measures are 
adhered to. A planning condition is proposed to be imposed to ensure this. 

9.9.3 The Method Statement in the Ecological report is now partially out-of-date as the 
mitigation/compensation strategy has been amended. The applicants should also note that the 
barn (Barn 1) is a confirmed bat roost and an EPS derogation license will be required if the 
barn is to be converted and the roosts destroyed. An informative outlining this has been duly 
applied to this permission.

9.9.4 The existing access from the highway requires slight improvements to the visibility splays. 
The existing wall adjacent to the watercourse is to be lowered and a Construction and 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has now been submitted. The National Park 
Planning Ecologist considered that this includes appropriate pollution prevention measures 
and its implementation can be enforced through a planning condition. 

9.9.5 A landscaping scheme has now been submitted in support of this application this shows 
existing and proposed hedgerow planting along the northern boundary of the site. A 
hedgerow screen is also proposed around the septic tank. This new planting is welcomed, 
although the planting specifications will also need to be agreed. A planning condition 
requiring this detail can be applied. 

9.9.7   The requirements of LDP policies SP3, Policy 1, Policy 3, Policy 6 and Policy 7 are considered 
to be met by the proposal.

9.10 Water and Flood Risk
9.10.1 The proposal is located within the River Usk Catchment Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 

area. Amendments were made during the course of the planning application to the proposed 
method of foul water treatment. A connection to the existing septic tank is now proposed, 
along with an additional BioKube plant that will treat the existing as well as the proposed foul 
water flows from the site. This is proposed in order to reduce phosphorus in the discharge 
from the septic tank, and it is then proposed to be discharged to a drainage field in the field 
to the east. The drainage field will be more than 40 metres from any watercourses and will 
also need to be constructed to the relevant British Standard.

9.10.2 The applicant has also submitted a water discharge Exemption certificate for the existing 
system that was issued in March 2021 i.e. after the initial tightening of the phosphate targets 
in the SAC catchments.

9.10.3  A full Habitat Regulation Assessment screening and Appropriate Assessment has been 
undertaken and was sent to NRW for consultation regarding Adverse Effects on the Integrity 
of the Site (the river Usk SAC). The Appropriate Assessment concluded that adverse effects 
on the integrity of the River Usk SAC can be avoided by the application of planning 
conditions relating to the foul drainage scheme being undertaken in accordance with 
submitted plans, adherence to the submitted CEMP and an informative which sets out the 

Page 30



Page 21 of 34

need for an environmental permit or registration for an exemption. NRW has responded on 
the Appropriate Assessment and confirmed they agree with the conclusions and state “that 
as a result of the proposal there would be no adverse effects on the integrity of the River Usk SAC 
subject to the imposition of planning conditions as listed in the appropriate assessment”. This 
ensures the requirements of LDP Policy 3 are also met.

9.10.4 Powys Environmental Health department has also been consulted on the foul drainage 
solution and has confirmed they have no objections. 

9.10.5 The requirements of LDP policy 10 are considered to be met by the proposal.

9.11 Lighting 
9.11.1      Two new down-lighters are proposed at the entrance doors to the holiday-lets. The National 

Park Planning Ecologist has reviewed this and confirmed this is considered acceptable. The 
proposal is considered to be in line with the requirements of LDP Policy 12 which requires 
that external lighting should be appropriate to its purpose and have no significant adverse 
effect individually or cumulatively on matters such as the character of the area, biodiversity 
etc. A planning condition is proposed to be applied to control the external lighting to that 
which has been submitted. 
9.11.2The requirements of LDP policy 12 are considered to be met by the proposal.

9.12 De-risking
9.12.1 Powys County Council Contaminated Land Department was consulted on the planning 

application given the buildings subject to the planning application were former agricultural 
buildings. The response confirms that due to this former use there is a potential risk of 
contaminates therefore a planning condition is recommended outlining requirements should 
the presence of contamination be encountered when carrying out the development. An 
informative is also recommended. These are considered to adequately deal with 
contamination risk. 

9.13 Active and Social Places 
9.13.1 This theme includes the following issues: Transport, Housing, Retail and Commercial 

Centres, Community Facilities, Recreational Spaces.
9.13.1.1 Neighbour Amenity 
9.13.1.2 The proposal is to convert one existing barn and partially re-build the other barn within the 

courtyard to form holiday lets. The site is located a short distance from Libanus along the 
A470 and the (relatively limited) services that are on offer within this settlement. 

9.13.1.3 The barns form part of the courtyard of buildings associated with Bolgoed Maen farmhouse. 
The proposed works remain a considerable distance from nearby (third party) properties. 
TAN 12 recognises the importance of the scale of development in relation to surroundings 
and how the mass and height of developments can impact on privacy, sunlight and 
microclimate. 

9.13.1.4 PPW at paragraph 3.21 states “The planning system must consider the impacts of new 
development on existing communities and maximise health protection and well-being and safeguard 
amenity.” Impact on residential occupiers such as: loss of light, loss of privacy, loss of outlook, 
loss of view and overbearing development should be considered by the planning system and 
are identified in national policy/guidance. 

9.13.1.5 The scale of development is likely to result in construction activities that will last for a 
relatively short period of time. There are some residential properties in reasonable 
proximity to the site (circa 180m away) although there is intervening agricultural fields, 
trees/hedgerows, road etc. Impacts on residential amenity are not considered to be a major 
risk nevertheless the applicant has submitted a Construction Environmental Management 
Plan (CEMP) which confirms that “all construction will between the hours of 8am and 5pm 
weekdays and 8am till 1pm Saturday morning. Within these hours noise from construction will be 
kept to a minimum and no site radios. There will be no night lighting and construction temporary 
lighting will be directed downwards and only where necessary. This is to prevent noise and light 
pollution. No development works will be undertaken in the hours of darkness. all construction will be 
undertaken between the hours of 8am and 5pm”. 

Page 31



Page 22 of 34

9.13.1.6 A separate planning condition is recommended as part of this committee report tying the 
development to the CEMP submitted.

9.13.2 Access, Highways and sustainable transport 
9.13.2.1 PPW states that “It is Welsh Government policy to require the use of a sustainable transport 

hierarchy in relation to new development, which prioritises walking, cycling and public transport 
ahead of the private motor vehicles” (see 4.1.12). 

9.13.2.2 The site is crossed by a public right of way and the National Park Public Right of way officer 
has highlighted that the footpath should remain open and unobstructed through development 
work unless a risk assessment recommended otherwise. In which case, advice should be 
sought from the Rights of Way team regarding temporary closure options. An informative 
has been applied outlining this detail. An informative is recommended to highlight this to the 
applicant. 

9.13.2.3 The use of the wider site as a farmhouse/residential house is established and this proposal 
would see the two barns within the courtyard complex now being used as two separate 
holiday lets. The proposal is accessed directly from the A470 - a busy Trunk Road, with 
traffic travelling between Brecon and Merthyr Tydfil. 

9.13.2.4 The development will provide for up to 7 car parking spaces and the existing vehicular access 
to the A470 is to remain largely unchanged (apart from the existing gate being moved 5m 
from the edge of the carriageway and the existing wall to the south-western side being 
lowered and vegetation cleared). The Welsh Government Trunk Road Agency has been 
consulted and directs that a planning condition be attached which sets out the minimum 
visibility splays and distances to be maintained. This directed condition is included in this 
committee report.

9.13.2.5 Overall there is considered to be reasonable compliance with the sustainable transport 
hierarchy and is in compliance with Policy 59 ‘Impacts of Traffic’ of the LDP.

9.14 Productive and Enterprising Places 
9.14.1 This theme includes the following issues: Economic Development, Tourism, The Rural 

Economy, Transportation Infrastructure, Telecommunications, Energy, Minerals, Waste.
9.15 Economic Development and Tourism
9.15.1 Paragraph 1.1.5 of Technical Advice Note 23: Economic Development states that “Economic 

land uses also include construction, including house building, but housing once built is not an 
economic land use because it does not directly generate wealth, jobs and income. It is the final use of 
land which is the important issue.” The economic benefits accruing from construction can be 
given some weight in decision making but it is not considered that these would be of 
significant weight. 

9.15.2 The proposal will create 2 new holiday lets (a total of 6 bed spaces). The proposal will 
support the employment of cleaning and other supply chain employment (during its 
operation) and would employ construction staff during the temporary construction period. 
The creation of 2 new holiday lets comprises an economic investment in the local area – 
these economic benefits from the scheme should be given some weight in determining the 
application.

9.15.3 It is recommended that a planning condition is attached to this permission which seeks to 
ensure the proposed barns are used for holiday lets (rather than open market dwellings). 

10 Conclusion

10.1 This application has been considered against the development plan, as required by statute, 
meaning Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 and the adopted policies of the Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2013), in particular policies SP1, 
SP3, Policy 1, Policy 3, Policy 4, Policy 6, Policy 7, Policy 10, Policy 59 and CYD LP1 and the 
comments made by the consultees and other interested parties and the following national 

Page 32



Page 23 of 34

guidance: Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11, 2021). The proposal does not comply with all of 
the above policies but is considered to be acceptable on balance given the particular, historic 
environment, built heritage, design and economic material considerations. The proposal is 
therefore, on balance, recommended for approval.

 National Park Purpose and Duty.
 The proposal has no adverse impact on the purposes or duty of the National Park. 
 Sustainable Management of Natural Resources.
 The proposal will install equipment which will remove phosphate from the foul 

drainage flows. Although flows will be increased, the treatment of flows presents an 
improvement to the current situation. 

 The particular circumstances of this proposal means no significant new infrastructure 
is required to serve the development (such as new access roads, car parking areas 
beyond the existing yard area). 

 Sustainable Development.

Sustainable Development has four pillars: 

 Social considerations - No negative social impacts of the development are 
anticipated. 

 Economic considerations - The proposal will positively impact on the local 
economy during construction and during its operation. It will also assist in retaining 
holiday makers in the local area and serving their needs. 

 Cultural considerations - The proposal (if sympathetically done) has the potential 
to make a positive contribution to the built heritage of the National Park. It will 
restore the group of buildings at Bolgoed Maen which make a positive contribution to 
the built heritage of the National Park. 

 Environmental considerations - The proposal includes bat loft and includes a 
number of biodiversity enhancement measures. The development requires minimal 
changes to the existing vehicular access into the site and therefore does not require 
significant new development in the open countryside (beyond the re-building of barn 2 
and conversion of barn 1 itself). The proposal also upgrades the existing foul draining 
system from a septic tank to a treatment plant. The proposal will result in increases in 
foul drainage loading overall (although the phosphates are now being treated). The 
development will result in an increased intensity of use at the site which will place 
additional demands on energy through e.g. heating, lighting etc.

The proposal delivers a positive impact on the historic environment and built heritage of the 
area, without adversely impacting on the other pillars of sustainability. I have considered the 
option of refusing this application however this would leave barn 2 to deteriorate more 
which may negatively impact on the sense of enclosure of the courtyard arrangement and the 
unlisted but locally important built heritage of the National Park. Whereas it’s partial re-build 
will realise positive economic and built heritage impacts. 

In putting forward this recommendation I have considered options of permitting the 
proposal, permitting with conditions and refusing it and the most appropriate option is as 
recommended.

11 Recommendation: Permit

Conditions and/or Reasons:

Page 33



Page 24 of 34

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five years from the 
date of this permission. 

2. The development shall be carried out in all respects strictly in accordance with the approved 
plans:    

 Entitled “Location Plan” Ref: 1020/ED-01 Rev A 
 Entitled “Proposed Block Plan” Ref: 1020-PD-01 Rev: B
 Entitled “Proposed Ground Floor Plan” Ref: 1020/PD-02 Rev A 
 Entitled “Proposed First Floor Plan” Ref: 1020-PD-03 Rev B
 Entitled “Proposed Barn 1 Elevations/Site Sections” Ref: 1020-PD-05 Rev A
 Entitled “Proposed Barn 1 Elevations/Site Sections” Ref: 1020-PD-06 Rev A
 Entitled “Proposed Barn 2 Elevations/Site Sections” Ref: 1020-PD-07 Rev A
 Entitled “Proposed Barn 1 Bat loft Dimensions & Materials” Ref: 1020-DP-08 Rev A
 Entitled “Proposed CEMP for Entrance Wall” Ref: 1020-PD-09 Rev 0 
 Entitled “Proposed Landscape Scheme – Plan and Elevations” Ref: 1020-PD-10 Rev 0 
 Entitled “Proposed External Lighting Plan” Ref: 1020-PD-11 Rev: 0 
 Entitled “Proposed Surface Water Management Plan” Ref: 1020-PD Rev: 0

except where otherwise stipulated by conditions attached to this permission. 

3. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking, amending and re-enacting that Order) no 
development of the types described in Part 1, Classes A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, Part 2 Class A, C and 
Part 40, Classes A, B, E, F, H and I of Schedule 2, other than that hereby permitted shall be carried 
out without the written permission of the Local Planning Authority.

4. The building(s) which is the subject of this application shall be used for holiday accommodation 
only and for no other purpose including any other purpose within Class C of the Schedule of the 
Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, or in any provision equivalent to that Class 
in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification. 

5. The building(s) which is the subject of this application shall not be let to or occupied by any one 
person or group of persons for a continuous period of longer than 3 months in any one year and 
in any event shall not be used as a permanent accommodation. A register of the lettings, including 
the names and main home addresses of guests, shall be kept up-to-date and made available for the 
Local Planning Authority to inspect at all reasonable times.

6. Prior to commencement of development a detailed scheme of conversion works shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall accord with section 5 
“Recommendations and conclusion” of document entitled “Structural Engineers Report for barns 
1 & 2 Bolgoed Maen, Libanus, Brecon, LD3 8EL Visual Structural Inspection” dated 25th March 
2021 and submitted to the National Park Authority. 

7. Prior to their installation on site, details and/or samples of the external materials and their finishes 
to be used as part of the development hereby approved, including colour (RAL number or 
equivalent detail) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

8.  Written approval of the source of the stone must be obtained from the Local Planning Authority 
before any new stone walling is undertaken on Barn 2. The new stone walling shall match the 
existing walling in terms of colour, size and coursing and in thickness, colour and style of pointing. 
The stonework shall be laid and pointed with mortar which is slightly weaker than the stone and 
which contains a well graded sharp sand and lime. All subsequent new walling shall match the 
approved sample stone. 

9.  No development shall take place until a programme of building recording and analysis, equivalent 
to an Historic England Level 2 building survey, has been secured and implemented. The developer 
must ensure that a professionally qualified archaeological contractor is employed. To secure the 
programme of building recording and analysis the following must be undertaken: 
a) Prior to the commencement of development a written scheme of investigation (WSI) must be 

Page 34



Page 25 of 34

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The WSI must meet the 
standards laid down by the Chartered Institute for Archaeologists in their ‘Standard and Guidance 
for the archaeological investigation and recording of standing buildings or structures’.
b) The recording and analysis shall be carried out in accordance with the approved WSI. Following 
the building recording and analysis and in accordance with a time frame set out in the approved 
WSI, a copy of the building recording and analysis report which meets the standards laid down by 
the Chartered Institute for Archaeologists in their Standard and Guidance for the archaeological 
investigation and recording of standing buildings or structures, shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for written approval. Following approval, the report will be submitted by the 
applicant to the local Welsh Archaeological Trust for inclusion in the Regional Historic 
Environment Record (HER).

8. The minimum visibility distances available for vehicles emerging from the proposed access into the 
existing lay-by shall be 215m to the left of the access and 45m to the right at a height of 1.05 
metres, measured to a point 0.26 metres above the nearer running edge of the trunk road 
carriageway. These visibility distances shall be available at a point 2.4m from the nearer running 
edge of the trunk road, measured along the centreline of the access road. The visibility splay so 
formed shall be free of any growth or obstruction, which would interfere with the minimum 
visibility requirements.

9. The biodiversity mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures as described in sections 4.4 
and 4.5 of the ecological report dated March 2021 and as shown on drawing numbers 1020-PD-
06 Rev. A, 1020-PD-07 Rev. A, 1020-PD-08 Rev. A and 1020-PD-11 Rev. 0 shall be undertaken 
and/or installed prior to first beneficial use of the development hereby approved and maintained 
thereafter. Following the installation of the mitigation, a report confirming their adequate 
installation or implementation shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.

10. Prior to the commencement of works, a suitably qualified ecological clerk of works shall be 
appointed and shall supervise the implementation of the development works in strict compliance 
with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the above 
condition.

11. The landscaping plan as shown on DRAWING NO. 1020-PD-10 Rev 0 shall be implemented and 
completed in the first available planting season following the implementation of the development 
and maintained thereafter. Prior to the implementation of the hedgerow planting, details of the 
planting specifications shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Any plants, trees or shrubs that fail in the first five years after planting shall be replaced 
in the next available planting season on a like-for-like basis. A stock-proof fence shall be erected 
to the boundary of the planting to prevent damage by grazing animals.

12. External lighting shall only be installed as shown on Drawing no. 1020-PD-11. No additional 
external lighting shall be installed unless a revised external lighting plan is submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any revised scheme shall avoid conflict with 
bat mitigation/enhancement measures and wildlife corridors shall be implemented as approved.

13. The foul drainage scheme for the proposed development shall be implemented and maintained 
thereafter strictly in accordance with the details as shown on DRAWING NO. 1020-PD-01 and 
with GPP 4: Treatment and disposal of wastewater where there is no connection to the public 
foul sewer. The drainage field shall be constructed to the British Standard - BS 
6297:2007+A1:2008.

14. The development shall be undertaken strictly in accordance with the document entitled Bolgoed 
Maen, Libanus - Construction and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and DRAWING NO. 
1020-PD-09. No materials, machinery or waste products associated with the barn conversion 
works shall be stored or used within 10 metres of any watercourse.

15. In the event that the presence of contamination is encountered when carrying out the approved 
development immediate contact must be made with the local planning authority and works must 
cease in that area. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken and where 
remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared, which is subject to the approval 
in writing of the local planning authority.
Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation scheme, a 
verification report that demonstrates compliance with the agreed remediation objectives and 

Page 35



Page 26 of 34

criteria shall be produced, and is subject to the written approval of the local planning authority, 
prior to commencement of use of the development.

Reasons:
1. Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
2. To ensure adherence to the approved plans in the interests of a satisfactory form of 

development. 
3. In the interests of protecting the traditional character and appearance of the building in 

accordance with LDP Policy 1.
4. To ensure the approved holiday accommodation is not used for permanent residential 

accommodation as the National Park Authority is not prepared to allow the introduction of an 
unrestricted unit of residential accommodation in this rural location. 

5. To ensure the approved holiday accommodation is not used for permanent residential 
accommodation as the National Park Authority is not prepared to allow the introduction of an 
unrestricted unit of residential accommodation in this rural location.

6. To ensure the development meets the definition of a conversion and complies with LDP Policy 
CYD LP1 and TAN24. 

7. To ensure the development is appropriate in appearance and its local context.
 8.    In order to ensure the development safeguards the character and visual amenities of the locality.
 9.   To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2021), Technical Advice Note 24 and Policies 

1 & SP3 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the Brecon Beacons National Park. To allow 
an adequate descriptive record of the buildings to be made, before they are converted, to ensure 
that the buildings origins, use and development are understood and the main features, character 
and state of preservation are recorded.

10. To maintain the safety and free flow of trunk road traffic. 
11. To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2021), Technical Advice Note 5 and Policies 

SP3, 1, 3, 4, 6, 7 and 12 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP. To comply with 
the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

12. To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2021), Technical Advice Note 5 and Policies 
SP3, 1, 3, 4, 6, 7 and 12 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP. To comply with 
the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

13. To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2021), Technical Advice Note 5 and Policies 
SP3, 1, 3, 4, 6, 7 and 12 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP. To comply with 
the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

14. To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2021), Technical Advice Note 5 and Policies 
SP3, 1, 3, 4, 6, 7 and 12 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP. To comply with 
the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

15. To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2021), Technical Advice Note 5 and Policies 
SP3, 1, 3, 4, 6, 7 and 12 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP. To comply with 
the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

16. To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2021), Technical Advice Note 5 and Policies 
SP3, 1, 3, 4, 6, 7 and 12 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP. To comply with 
the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

17. To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land 
are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with the requirements of Planning Policy 
Wales (2021). 

Page 36



Page 27 of 34

Informatives: 
1. The site is crossed by a public footpath. The footpath should remain open and unobstructed 

through development work unless a risk assessment recommends otherwise. In which case, advice 
should be sought from the Brecon Beacons National Park Rights of Way team regarding temporary 
closure options. 

2. All nesting birds, their nests, eggs and young are protected by law and it is an offence to: 
o intentionally kill, injure or take any wild bird
o intentionally take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird whilst it is in use or being 

built 
o intentionally take or destroy the egg of any wild bird
o intentionally (or recklessly) disturb any wild bird listed on Schedule1 while it is nest 

building, or at a nest containing eggs or young, or disturb the dependent young of such a 
bird.  The maximum penalty that can be imposed - in respect of a single bird, nest or egg 
- is a fine of up to 5,000 pounds, six months imprisonment or both. 

The applicant is therefore reminded that it is an offence under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended) to remove or work on any hedge, tree or building where that work involves 
the taking, damaging or destruction of any nest of any wild bird while the nest is in use or being 
built, (usually between late February and late August). If a nest is discovered while work is being 
undertaken, all work must stop and advice sought from Natural Resources Wales.

3. Warning: A European protected species (EPS) Licence is required for this 
development. This planning permission does not provide consent to undertake works that 
require an EPS licence. It is an offence to deliberately capture, kill or disturb EPS or to recklessly 
damage or destroy their breeding sites or resting places. If found guilty of any offences, you could 
be sent to prison for up to 6 months and/or receive an unlimited fine. To undertake the works 
within the law, you can obtain further information on the need for a licence from Natural 
Resources Wales on 0300 065 3000 or at: https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-
advice/environmental-topics/wildlife-and-biodiversity/european-protected-species/?lang=en

4. With respect to the discharge of effluent to ground or surface water, the Applicant will need to 
apply for an environmental permit or register an exemption with Natural Resources Wales. Septic 
tanks and small sewage treatment works may be registered as exempt from the requirement to 
obtain an environmental permit if certain criteria are met. Please note, should a permit be 
required, further information may be required as part of that application and the Applicant is 
therefore advised to hold pre-application discussions with NRW’s Permitting Team on 0300 065 
3000, at the earliest opportunity, to try to ensure that there is no conflict between any planning 
permission granted and the permit requirements. It is important to note that a grant of planning 
permission does not guarantee that a permit will be granted, should a proposal be deemed to be 
unacceptable (either because of environmental risk or because upon further investigation, a 
connection to mains sewer was feasible). The Applicant should ensure that they have all the 
required permissions, consents, permits and any other approvals in place prior to commencement 
of works on the site.

5. Further advice on compliance with condition 19 may be obtained by contacting Powys County 
Council Environmental Health Service on 01597 827645.

Page 37

https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/wildlife-and-biodiversity/european-protected-species/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/wildlife-and-biodiversity/european-protected-species/?lang=en


Page 28 of 34

 “Location Plan”                                                          Ref: 1020/ED-01 Rev A 

P
age 38



Page 29 of 34

“Proposed Block Plan” Ref: 1020-PD-01 Rev: B

P
age 39



Page 30 of 34

“Proposed Ground Flood Plan”                                    Ref: 1020/PD-02 Rev A 

P
age 40



Page 31 of 34

“Proposed First Floor Plan”                                         Ref: 1020-PD-03 Rev B

P
age 41



Page 32 of 34

“Proposed Barn 1 Elevations/Site Sections”                    Ref: 1020-PD-05 Rev A

P
age 42



Page 33 of 34

“Proposed Barn 1 Elevations/Site Sections”                    Ref: 1020-PD-06 Rev A

P
age 43



Page 34 of 34

“Proposed Barn 2 Elevations/Site Sections”                    Ref: 1020-PD-07 Rev A

P
age 44



For information and noting

APPLICATIONS DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK OFFICERS
Details are available on our website at Planning application search on-line 

App No. Grid Ref. Community Address   Decision Date Issued

20/18303/CON N: 212312 
E: 321988

Llanelly Former Darenfelin School, 
Darenfelin, Llanelly Hill, 
Abergavenny, 
Monmouthshire, NP7 
0NR

Withdraw 21 July 2021

20/18264/FUL N: 228674 
E: 304465

Brecon 23 And 24 High Street 
Superior, Brecon, Powys, 
LD3 7LA

Withdraw 12 July 2021

20/18987/CON N: 217958 
E: 322964

Vale Of 
Grwyney

Graig Barn Farm, 
Llangenny Lane, 
Crickhowell, Powys, NP8 
1HB, 

Permit 10 August 2021

20/19003/FUL N: 219837 
E: 325168

Vale Of 
Grwyney

Penlan Farm , Llangenny, 
Crickhowell, NP8 1ST

Permit 25 June 2021

20/19004/LBC N: 219837 
E: 325168

Vale Of 
Grwyney

Penlan Farm , Llangenny, 
Crickhowell, NP8 1ST

Permit 2 July 2021

20/19174/FUL N: 222577 
E: 311492

Talybont-on-
Usk

The Malt House , 
Talybont-On-Usk, Brecon, 
Powys, LD3 7JD

Permit 6 August 2021

20/19239/FUL N: 202931 
E: 329236

Goetre Fawr Court Bleddyn Farm , 
Folly Lane, Pontypool, 
Torfaen, NP4 8TS

Permit 25 June 2021

20/19275/FUL N: 221377 
E: 313078

Llanfrynach Buckland Hall , Bwlch, 
Powys, LD3 7JJ

Permit 29 June 2021

20/19276/LBC N: 221377 
E: 313078

Llanfrynach Buckland Hall , Bwlch, 
Powys, LD3 7JJ

Permit 29 June 2021

20/19285/CAC N: 228502 
E: 304432

Brecon The Old Surgery (Fire 
And Stove Shop) , St 
Marys Street, Brecon 

Permit 18 August 2021

Page 45

ENC8Item 1

https://planningonline.beacons-npa.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN


For information and noting

20/19330/FUL N: 226079 
E: 277802

Llanddeusant Talsarn Farm, 
Llanddeusant, Llangadog, 
Carmarthenshire, SA19 
9YW

Permit 8 July 2021

20/19369/FUL N: 226638 
E: 304649

Glyn Tarell 2 Cefn Cantref , Cantref, 
Brecon, LD3 8LT

Permit 30 June 2021

20/19380/FUL N: 229002 
E: 304061

Brecon Brecon Youth Centre, 
Cradoc Road, Brecon, 
Powys, LD3 9LG

Permit 25 June 2021

20/19398/FUL N: 215863 
E: 324738

Llanelly Autumn View, Lower 
Common, Gilwern, 
Monmouthshire, NP7 0EE

Permit subject to Section 
106 Agreement

13 August 2021

21/19438/DISCON N: 226437 
E: 308952

Llanfrynach St Illtyd And St Peter's 
Church , Llanhamlach, 
Brecon, LD3 7YB

Permit 9 July 2021

21/19439/CON N: 242690 
E: 323009

Hay-on-Wye Lamb House, 17 Newport 
Street, Hay-On-Wye, 
Hereford, Powys, HR3 
5BJ

Permit subject to Section 
106 Agreement

15 July 2021

21/19442/CON N: 216353 
E: 324429

Vale Of 
Grwyney

Glangrwney Court, 
LodgeLlangenny, 
Crickhowell, NP8 1ES

Permit 22 June 2021

21/19457/FUL N: 226380 
E: 306794

Llanfrynach Cynrig Hatchery, 
Llanfrynach, Brecon, 
Powys, LD3 7AX

Permit 19 July 2021

21/19464/FUL N: 214029 
E: 323561

Llanelly Land Development On 
The Site Of Former 
Dwelling St Maelog , 
Forge Row, 
Maesygwartha, NP7 0HA 

Permit 5 August 2021

21/19490/DISCON N: 220206 
E: 323340

Vale Of 
Grwyney

The Neuadd , Llanbedr, 
Crickhowell, NP8 1SP

Split Decision Discharge 
Conditions

22 June 2021

21/19512/FUL N: 217979 
E: 264926

Dyffryn Cennen Tirypant , Trapp, 
Llandeilo, 
Carmarthenshire, SA19 
6TS

Permit 21 June 2021

Page 46



For information and noting

21/19523/FUL N: 213711 
E: 284383

Tawe Uchaf Blossom Cottage , 
Penycae, Swansea, SA9 
1FA

Permit 24 June 2021

21/19529/LBC N: 218260 
E: 321600

Crickhowell 3 Bridge Street, 
Crickhowell, Powys, NP8 
1AR

Permit 29 June 2021

21/19531/DISCON N: 213972 
E: 326678

Llanfoist Fawr Former Govilon Primary 
School, The Avenue, 
Govilon, Monmouthshire, 
NP7 9PR

Permit 25 June 2021

21/19565/ADV N: 228585 
E: 304543

Brecon Unit 20 , Bethel Square, 
Brecon, LD3 7JP

Permit 16 July 2021

21/19572/FUL N: 216098 
E: 327060

Llanfoist Fawr Twyn Cottage , 
Llanwenarth Breast, 
Llanwenarth, NP7 7LA

Permit 30 July 2021

21/19575/CPE N: 221300 
E: 328074

Vale Of 
Grwyney

Gelliweltog, Forest Coal 
Pit, Abergavenny, Powys, 
NP7 7LR

Permit 5 August 2021

21/19594/FUL N: 229143 
E: 288092

Llywel Three Horseshoes , 
Trecastle, Brecon, LD3 
8UP

Permit 19 July 2021

21/19595/LBC N: 229143 
E: 288092

Llywel Three Horseshoes , 
Trecastle, Brecon, LD3 
8UP

Permit 15 July 2021

21/19630/FUL N: 219769 
E: 315239

Llangynidr The Halt , Cwm Crawnon 
Road, Llangynidr, 
Crickhowell, NP8 1LS

Permit 22 July 2021

21/19674/FUL N: 218395 
E: 322097

Crickhowell Arfryn , Standard Street, 
Crickhowell, NP8 1SL

Permit 21 July 2021

21/19707/FUL N: 230482 
E: 316142

Talgarth Penyrheol Farm, 
Pengenffordd, Talgarth, 
Powys, LD3 0EY

Permit 15 July 2021

21/19709/FUL N: 220192 
E: 315163

Llangynidr Berwyn , Coed-Yr-Ynys 
Road, Llangynidr, 
Crickhowell, NP8 1NA

Permit 24 June 2021

Page 47



For information and noting

21/19719/FUL N: 218861 
E: 321335

Crickhowell 27 Brookfields, 
Crickhowell, NP8 1DJ

Permit 16 July 2021

21/19720/FUL N: 229739 
E: 304693

Brecon 50 Beacons Park, Brecon, 
LD3 9BR

Permit 5 August 2021

21/19724/DISCON N: 222540 
E: 314096

Talybont-on-
Usk

Glanpant , Cathedine, 
Brecon, LD3 7HQ

Split Decision Discharge 
Conditions

20 July 2021

21/19732/LBC N: 228780 
E: 292252

Maescar The Old Drugs Store , 
High Street, Sennybridge, 
Brecon, LD3 8PG

Permit 29 July 2021

21/19752/FUL N: 214680 
E: 325281

Llanelly 28 Mametz Grove, 
Gilwern, NP7 0FA

Permit 20 July 2021

21/19758/FUL N: 203383 
E: 330037

Hillgrove , Folly Lane, 
Mamhilad, NP4 8RB

Permit 21 July 2021

21/19776/FUL N: 214367 
E: 324449

Llanelly Seltirk, Station Road, 
Gilwern, Monmouthshire, 
NP7 0BY

Permit 28 July 2021

21/19791/MINOR N: 216569 
E: 330607

Llantilio 
Pertholey

Ty Gwyn Hall , Llantilio 
Pertholey, 
Monmouthshire, NP7 
6NY

Permit 25 June 2021

21/19806/FUL N: 228658 
E: 289811

Llywel The Byre , Trecastle, 
Brecon, LD3 8UU, , 

Refuse 9 July 2021

Reason/s for refusal:-
The proposal would have an unacceptable impact upon the character and appearance of the converted barn and surrounding 
area. The proposal is contrary to the requirements of Policy 1, Policy 27 and CYD LP1 of the Local Development Plan for 
the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority.

21/19824/FUL N: 224094 
E: 314482

Cwmdu Penllyn, Cathedin, Brecon, 
Powys, LD3 7SX

Permit 17 August 2021

21/19839/FUL N: 228666 
E: 304382

Brecon Central Garage , Market 
Street, Brecon, LD3 9AH

Permit 25 June 2021

21/19843/FUL N: 218089 
E: 322177

Crickhowell 5 The Green, 
Crickhowell, NP8 1EX

Permit 8 July 2021

Page 48



For information and noting

21/19849/CPE N: 216415 
E: 331702

Llantilio 
Pertholey

Loft, New Court Farm, 
New Court Lane, Llantilio 
Pertholey, NP7 8AU, 

Permit 25 June 2021

21/19854/FUL N: 229104 
E: 292524

Maescar Land Adjacent To 
Danyderi, Coedwaungar, 
Sennybridge, Brecon, 
Powys, LD3 8TW

Refuse 20 August 2021

Reason/s for refusal:-
1. The proposal is contrary to the provisions of Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (adopted 2013) 

Policy E LP1: Community Sustainability Edge of Settlement Exceptions Policy 29: Enabling Affordable Housing Exception 
Sites.   

2. The proposal is contrary to the requirements of Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (adopted 2013) 
Policy 59: Impacts of Traffic, Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan Policy SP17: Sustainable Transport 
and Technical Advice Note 18: Transport.  

3. The proposal includes insufficient information on the proposed means of foul drainage and phosphate implication of the 
proposed development to understand whether the proposal accords with Brecon Beacons National Park Local 
Development Plan (adopted 2013) Policy 57: Water and Sewerage Supply for New Development and Policy 10: Water 
Quality of the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (adopted 2013) as well as to enable the proposal 
to be screened and assessed for phosphate neutrality or betterment on the River Usk Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC) in accordance with the Habitat Regulations. This is contrary to The Conservation of Species and Habitats 
Regulations 2017 (as amended); the Environment Act 1995 (national park duty), The Environment (Wales) Act 2016, 
Policies 1, 3, 4 and 10 of the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan; and the national planning policy and 
guidance set out in Planning Policy Wales, section 6 and Technical Advice Note 5.  

4. Insufficient information has been provided on the proposed pollution prevention measures and surface water drainage to 
assess the impacts on the River Usk Special Area of Conservation (SAC) to understand whether the 
proposal accords with relevant parts of Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (adopted 2013) Policy 
SP3, 3, 4 and 10.  

5. Insufficient information has been provided regarding the ecological impact and there are limited details 
of mitigation, compensation and enhancement of woodland habitat as well as impacts on protected and/or priority 
species. No biodiversity enhancements are proposed. This is contrary to Brecon Beacons National Park Local 
Development Plan (adopted 2013) Policies 1, 6, 7 and 9 as well as the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 and the Welsh 
Government letter to Chief Planning Officers dated 23rd October 2019. 

6. The proposed development will result in an unacceptable loss of an area of land designated as Ancient Semi-natural 
Woodland, that is contrary to Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (adopted 2013) Policy 9: Ancient 
Woodland and Veteran Trees. In particular, the effects of light-spill and external lighting will also have a negative impact 
on the Ancient Woodland and associated fauna. 

7. It has not been demonstrated why a connection to the available main foul water drain is not feasible, a preference for 
which exists within the hierarchy set out in Circular 008/2018. The proposal includes insufficient information to justify a 
private sewerage system. This is contrary to the requirements of the Drainage Circular 008/2018: Planning requirement 
in respect of the use of private sewerage in new development, incorporating septic tanks and small sewage treatment 
plants July 2018) and Policy 57: Use of Non-Mains Sewerage Solutions of the Brecon Beacons National Park Local 
Development Plan (adopted 2013).  

8. The proposal includes insufficient information on the existing and proposed site levels for the Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority to make an assessment on the acceptability of the development in terms of its impact on 
residential amenity. This is contrary to Policy 1: Appropriate Development in the National Park of the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Local Development Plan (adopted 2013).  

Page 49



For information and noting

21/19857/FUL N: 229136 
E: 292507

Maescar New House, 
Coedwaungar, 
Sennybridge, Brecon, LD3 
8TP, 

Refuse 20 August 2021

Reason/s for refusal:-
1.  The proposal is contrary to the provisions of Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (adopted 2013) 

Policy E LP1: Community Sustainability Edge of Settlement Exceptions Policy 29: Enabling Affordable Housing Exception 
Sites.   

2. The proposal is contrary to the requirements of Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (adopted 2013) 
Policy 59: Impacts of Traffic, Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan Policy SP17: Sustainable Transport 
and Technical Advice Note 18: Transport.  

3. The proposal includes insufficient information on the proposed means of foul drainage and phosphate implication of the 
proposed development to understand whether the proposal accords with Brecon Beacons National Park Local 
Development Plan (adopted 2013) Policy 57: Water and Sewerage Supply for New Development and Policy 10: Water 
Quality of the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (adopted 2013) as well as to enable the proposal to 
be screened and assessed for phosphate neutrality or betterment on the River Usk Special Area of Conservation (SAC) in 
accordance with the Habitat Regulations. This is contrary to The Conservation of Species and Habitats Regulations 
2017 (as amended); the Environment Act 1995 (national park duty), The Environment (Wales) Act 2016, Policies 1, 
3, 4 and 10 of the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan; and the national planning policy and guidance 
set out in Planning Policy Wales, section 6 and Technical Advice Note 5.  

4. Insufficient information has been provided on the proposed pollution prevention measures and surface water drainage to 
assess the impacts on the River Usk Special Area of Conservation (SAC) to understand whether the 
proposal accords with relevant parts of Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (adopted 2013) Policy 
SP3, 3, 4 and 10.  

5. Insufficient information has been provided regarding the ecological impact and there are limited details 
of mitigation, compensation and enhancement of woodland habitat as well as impacts on protected and/or priority 
species. No biodiversity enhancements are proposed. This is contrary to Brecon Beacons National Park Local 
Development Plan (adopted 2013) Policies 1, 6, 7 and 9 as well as the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 and the Welsh 
Government letter to Chief Planning Officers dated 23rd October 2019. 

6. The proposed development will result in an unacceptable loss of an area of land designated as Ancient Semi-natural 
Woodland, that is contrary to Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (adopted 2013) Policy 9: Ancient 
Woodland and Veteran Trees. In particular, the effects of light-spill and external lighting will also have a negative impact 
on the Ancient Woodland and associated fauna. 

7. It has not been demonstrated why a connection to the available main foul water drain is not feasible, a preference for 
which exists within the hierarchy set out in Circular 008/2018. The proposal includes insufficient information to justify a 
private sewerage system. This is contrary to the requirements of the Drainage Circular 008/2018: Planning requirement 
in respect of the use of private sewerage in new development, incorporating septic tanks and small sewage treatment 
plants July 2018) and Policy 57: Use of Non-Mains Sewerage Solutions of the Brecon Beacons National Park Local 
Development Plan (adopted 2013).  

21/19868/FUL N: 214960 
E: 324463

Llanelly Grosvenor , Crickhowell 
Road, Gilwern, NP7 0DG

Permit 24 June 2021

21/19869/FUL N: 215342 
E: 324750

Llanelly 1 Fairhome, Gilwern, NP7 
0BA

Permit 5 July 2021

21/19885/FUL N: 228674 
E: 304470

Brecon 23 And 24 High Street 
Superior, Brecon, LD3 
7LA

Permit 15 July 2021

Page 50



For information and noting

21/19890/CPE N: 216415 
E: 331702

Llantilio 
Pertholey

New Court Farm, New 
Court Lane, Llantilio 
Pertholey, 
Monmouthshire, NP7 
8AU

Refuse 25 June 2021

Reason/s for refusal:-
Insufficient documentary evidence has been provided to demonstrate, on the balance of probabilities that the land outlined in 
red on the location plan submitted as part of the application has been continuously used for self-storage units for the 
requisite period.

21/19891/CON N: 219408 
E: 324398

Vale Of 
Grwyney

Tycanol Farm , Llangenny, 
Crickhowell, NP8 1HF

Permit 2 July 2021

21/19893/CON N: 219408 
E: 324398

Vale Of 
Grwyney

Tycanol Farm , Llangenny, 
Crickhowell, NP8 1HF

Permit 2 July 2021

21/19899/FUL N: 223417 
E: 317369

Cwmdu Llwynaumawr Lodge, 
Bwlch, Brecon, Powys, 
NP8 1RS

Permit 28 June 2021

21/19911/FUL N: 242127 
E: 322386

Hay-on-Wye 37 Gipsy Castle Estate, 
Hereford, HR3 5EG

Permit 22 June 2021

21/19913/DISCON N: 213181 
E: 324398

Llanfoist Fawr Lilac Cottage , Heol Bedd-
Dyn-Hir, Govilon, NP7 
0HS

Permit 25 June 2021

21/19917/FUL N: 228124 
E: 305541

Brecon 8 Cwrt Y Camden, 
Brecon, Powys, LD3 7RR

Permit 10 August 2021

21/19918/DISCON N: 228887 
E: 304470

Brecon 13 Priory Hill, Brecon, 
LD3 9DH

Permit 25 June 2021

21/19929/FUL N: 212943 
E: 322997

Llanelly Cambrian Inn , Lower 
Station Road, Clydach, 
NP7 0LY

Permit 9 July 2021

21/19930/CON N: 219100 
E: 315359

Llangynidr Saladin House , Mill Road, 
Llangynidr, Crickhowell, 
NP8 1NW

Permit 25 June 2021

Page 51



For information and noting

21/19931/FUL N: 222841 
E: 311344

Talybont-on-
Usk

23 Penpentre, Talybont-
on-usk, Brecon, Powys, 
LD3 7YQ

Permit 23 July 2021

21/19935/FUL N: 228553 
E: 304843

Brecon 5 Camden Road, Brecon, 
LD3 7BU

Permit 17 August 2021

21/19936/LBC N: 228553 
E: 304843

Brecon 5 Camden Road, Brecon, 
LD3 7BU

Permit 18 August 2021

21/19940/MINOR N: 218245 
E: 298958

Llanfrynach Cantref Reservoir, 
Cwmtaf, Merthyr Tydfil, 
Powys, CF48 2HY

Permit 25 June 2021

21/19947/DISCON N: 219517 
E: 315440

Llangynidr 22 Clos Castell, 
Llangynidr, Crickhowell, 
Powys, NP8 1NZ 

Permit 29 June 2021

21/19956/TPO N: 214823 
E: 325493

61 Mametz Grove, 
Gilwern, Monmouthshire, 
NP7 0FA

Permit 25 June 2021

21/19967/FUL N: 228792 
E: 304093

Brecon Peterstone , Kensington, 
Brecon, LD3 9AP

Permit 29 July 2021

21/19969/FUL N: 214547 
E: 324607

Llanelly The Bridgend Inn , 49 
Main Road, Gilwern, NP7 
0AU

Permit 9 July 2021

21/19974/FUL N: 211388 
E: 305736

Vaynor Red Cow Inn , Pontsticill 
Reservoir Road, 
Pontsticill, Merthyr Tydfil, 
CF48 2UN

Permit 15 July 2021

21/19984/FUL N: 228888 
E: 304111

Brecon Sherfield , The Avenue, 
Brecon, LD3 9BL

Permit 21 July 2021

21/19996/FUL N: 228155 
E: 303758

Brecon 1 Dewi Sant, Llan-Faes, 
Brecon, LD3 8EE

Permit 20 July 2021

21/20005/FUL N: 216645 
E: 332166

Llantilio 
Pertholey

Tyr Y Wen Farm , Great 
Triley Road, Triley, 
Llantilio Pertholey, NP7 
8AU

Permit 27 July 2021

Page 52



For information and noting

21/20010/FUL N: 232296 
E: 314196

Talgarth Maesgwyn , Trefecca, 
Brecon, LD3 0PW

Permit 22 July 2021

21/20011/FUL N: 213959 
E: 326726

Llanfoist Fawr 1 Maple Gardens, Govilon 
NP7 9BZ

Permit 5 July 2021

21/20012/FUL N: 221367 
E: 310500

Talybont-on-
Usk

Shop House, The Aber, 
Talybont-On-Usk, Brecon, 
Powys, LD3 7YS

Permit 13 August 2021

21/20019/MINOR N: 219343 
E: 315533

Llangynidr Cynidr House, Duffryn 
Road, Llangynidr, 
Crickhowell, Powys, NP8 
1NT

Permit 29 June 2021

21/20022/FUL N: 228279 
E: 304638

Brecon 2 Penycamlais , Rich Way, 
Brecon, LD3 7EH

Permit 22 July 2021

21/20046/FUL N: 218120 
E: 321853

Crickhowell The Old Stablings, Castle 
Road, Crickhowell, 
Powys, NP8 1AP

Permit 5 August 2021

21/20048/FUL N: 219027 
E: 321793

Crickhowell 7 Darren View, 
Crickhowell, NP8 1DS

Permit 3 August 2021

21/20061/MINOR N: 212540 
E: 319647

Brynmawr Intermediate Road, 
Brynmawr, Blaenau 
Gwent, NP23 4XT

Permit 25 June 2021

21/20064/FUL N: 219149 
E: 315328

Llangynidr Cleisfer House , Mill 
Road, Llangynidr, 
Crickhowell, NP8 1NW

Permit 18 August 2021

21/20075/MINOR N: 220229 
E: 323313

Crickhowell The Bothy, The Neuadd, 
Llanbedr, Crickhowell, 
Powys, NP8 1SP

Permit 25 June 2021

21/20076/FUL N: 228141 
E: 302771

Brecon Unit 8A , Brecon 
Enterprise Park, Brecon, 
LD3 8BT

Permit 18 August 2021

21/20087/FUL N: 226541 
E: 286120

Llywel Pen Waen Cottage , 
Glasfynydd Trecastle, 
Brecon, LD3 8YD

Permit 6 August 2021

Page 53



For information and noting

21/20108/CPL N: 221273 
E: 329641

Crucorney Dellwood , Cwm Road, 
Cwmyoy, NP7 7NA

Permit 20 August 2021

21/20116/FUL N: 234195 
E: 315635

Talgarth 5 Park Avenue, Talgarth, 
Brecon, Powys, LD3 0AR 

Permit 20 August 2021

21/20143/CPL N: 231120 
E: 315727

Talgarth Lower Trewalkin , 
Talgarth, Powys, LD3 
0HA

Refuse 13 August 2021

Reason/s for refusal:-

1. The proposal has been determined in accordance with Section 192 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). The Authority is not satisfied that the proposed development would be lawful as it would not benefit from 
deemed planning permission by virtue of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended), due to it's location extending in part beyond a wall which does not 
form part of the original dwellinghouse. 

21/20182/DISCON N: 230996 
E: 279989

Myddfai Esgair Faethgen, Myddfai, 
Llandovery, 
Carmarthenshire, SA20 
0QE

Permit 18 August 2021

21/20211/FUL N: 212312 
E: 321988

Llanelly Ex Darenfelin School, 
Llanelly Hill, 
Monmouthshire, NP7 
0NR

Withdraw 19 August 2021

21/20212/DISCON N: 228372 
E: 291948

Maescar Castle Farm , Sennybridge, 
Brecon, LD3 8PS

Permit 18 August 2021

Page 54



Report for information and noting

AGRICULTURAL NOTIFICATIONS DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK OFFICERS

App No. Grid Ref. Community Address   Decision Date 
Issued

21/19821/AGR N: 234607 
E: 316966

Talgarth Park Wood, Talgarth AGR Permitted 
Development

25 June 2021

21/19973/AGR N: 212612 
E: 328726

Llanfoist Fawr Llanfoist Woods AGR Permitted 
Development

22 June 
2021

21/20025/AGR N: 219921 
E: 322632

Vale Of 
Grwyney

Ysgubor Newydd, Great 
Oak Road, Crickhowell, 
Powys, NP8 1SP

AGR Prior Approval 15 July 
2021

21/20030/AGR N: 230396 
E: 278211

Myddfai Pentwyn , Myddfai To 
Llandovery, Myddfai, 
Llandovery, SA20 0PZ

AGR Permitted 
Development

2 July 2021

21/20051/AGR N: 227906 
E: 279052

Myddfai Pentregronw, Myddfai, 
Carmarthenshire

AGR Planning 
Permission Required

2 July 2021

21/20065/AGR N: 230396 
E: 317744

Talgarth Dinas Farm, Talgarth, 
Brecon, Powys, LD3 0EW

AGR Planning 
Permission Required

22 July 2021

Page 55

ENC8Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Report for information and noting

FRINGE APPLICATIONS DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK OFFICERS

App No. Grid Ref. Community Address   Decision Date Issued

21/19928/FRI N: 204665 
E: 304488

Vaynor And 
Penderyn

Land At 
Rhydycar 
West, 
Merthyr 
Tydfil

Fringe No 
Comments

12 July 2021

21/20167/FRI N: 211523   Llanhilleth Land At Mynydd 
Llanhilleth 
Common, 
Located Within 
BGBCB And 
TCBC

Fringe No 
Comments

29/07/2021

21/20007/FRI N: 200831
E: 329692

Pontypool Rothingdean
101 Usk 
Road
Pontypool

Fringe No 
Comments

25/06/2021

Page 57

ENC8Item 3



Report for information and noting

21/20053/SCO N: 201686 
E: 323633

Llanhilleth Land At 
Mynydd 
Llanhilleth 
Common, 
Located Within 
BGBCB And 
TCBC

Fringe 
Comments

6 July 2021

It is understood that the Planning Inspectorate has received a request for a Scoping Opinion in relation to 
the above development and you are consulted the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority under 
Regulation 33(7) of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Wales) 
Regulations 2017. 

The proposed development 
Up to 12 turbines with a maximum tip height of 180m (max capacity 10MW) together with associated and 
ancillary development including a control building, electricity transformers and anemometry mast, grid 
connection, access works, temporary construction compound and associated works. The site measures 
193 hectares. 

It is noted that the development site is located in Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council and Torfaen 
County Borough Council local planning authority areas but is located around 5km away from the Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority boundary (at its closest point). It is noted that the Scoping Report 
appears to note a 15km separation distance from the National Park boundary at it closest point which 
does not appear accurate.

Comments on the EIA Scoping Report

The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority has the following comments on the Mynydd Llanhilleth Wind 
Farm EIA Scoping Report (May 2021) prepared by Savills:

1. We note the applicant is proposing to prepare a Landscape and Visual Impact Chapter as part of the 
Environmental Impact Assessment process which is welcomed. 

2. Please note the National Park boundary (at its nearest point) is circa 5km away from the site boundary 
(not 15km). 

3. We note that viewpoints are subject to review following the finalisation of turbine layout. Therefore 
we reserve our consideration of the appropriateness of the viewpoints once further detail has been 
provided on these. It is noted that 19 viewpoints are identified in total, with 3 viewpoints (10, 16 and 
18) within the National Park boundary. An additional viewpoint from Mynydd Llangynidr/Mynydd 
Llangatwg (within the National Park boundary) is requested however. It is assumed winter views will 
be provided of these viewpoints. 

4. We note that a night-time assessment and consideration of glint and glare is proposed to be 
undertaken which is welcomed. Para. 7.4. 2 states that a night-time view from the National Park is 
proposed but no defined viewpoint is set at this point. We would be happy to provide a perspective 
on which viewpoint would be appropriate once we have had the opportunity of seeing the day-time 
viewpoints. 

5. The Planning Policy section of the Environmental Statement (ES) should draw upon the Brecon 
Beacons National Park Management Plan 2015-2020. This is the document which sets out the Special 

Page 58



Report for information and noting

Qualities of the National Park. Planning Policy Wales (PPW) requires that the special qualities of 
designated areas are given weight in the development planning and development management process.  

6. Photomontages are requested of all viewpoints from the National Park. 

Page 59



Report for information and noting

P
age 60



Report for information and noting

21/20163/FRI N:204978
E: 323468

Abertillery Land 
between 
Abertillery 
And 
Abersychan
(Abertillery 
Wind Farm)

Fringe 
Comments

11/08/2021

It is understood that the Planning Inspectorate has received a request for a Scoping Opinion in relation to 
the above development and you are consulted the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority under 
Regulation 33(7) of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Wales) 
Regulations 2017. 

The proposed development 
Up to 7 turbines (although this number could change) with a maximum tip height of 180m (max capacity 
over 10MW) together with associated and ancillary development including a substation/control building, 
electricity transformers and anemometry mast, access works, energy storage equipment, borrow pits, 
temporary construction compound and associated works. The site measures 385 hectares and is located 
on Common Land including designated Open Access Land.

It is noted that the development site is located in Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council and Torfaen 
County Borough Council local planning authority areas but is located around 3.7km away from the Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority boundary (at its closest point). It is noted that the Scoping Report 
appears to note a 4.4km separation distance from the National Park boundary at its closest point which 
is slightly different. 

It is noted that this development is one of number of similar requests being considered by the Planning 
Inspectorate and other bodies in the general vicinity. The Authority has been recently made aware of the 
following: 

 Land at Mynydd Llanhilleth Common PINS Ref: 3273368, 
 Land at Penpergwn, Monmouthshire pre-application consultation stage; and 
 Land at Manmoel Common, Manmoel Raod, Near Ebbw Vale PINS Ref: 3239181. 

Comments on the EIA Scoping Report
The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority has the following comments on the Abertillery Wind Farm 
EIA Scoping Report (May 2021) prepared by RSK:

1. We note the applicant is proposing to prepare a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) 
Chapter as part of the Environmental Impact Assessment process which is welcomed. 

2. Cumulative impact – as raised above, the National Park Authority has recently been consulted on a 
number of new wind farm proposals on the fringes of the National Park boundary and the Authority 
has concern regarding their cumulative impact. Given this proliferation, we would argue that these 
will need to be considered as part of any cumulative impact assessment. Also – it is unclear why 
proposals within a 20km radius has only been considered. 

Page 61



Report for information and noting

3. Please note the National Park boundary (including the International Dark Sky Reserve) (at its nearest 
point) is circa 3.7km away from the site boundary. 

4. We note that the number and location of turbines might change therefore we assume the viewpoints 
(and Zone of Theoretical Visibility) being presented might be subject to change. Therefore, we reserve 
our consideration of the appropriateness of the viewpoints once further detail has been set on these 
matters. It is noted that 18 viewpoints are identified in total, with 6 viewpoints (10, 11, 13, 16, 17 and 
18) within the National Park boundary. An additional viewpoint from Sugar Loaf (within the National 
Park boundary) is requested. It is assumed winter views will be provided of these viewpoints. 

5. We note that night-time views are proposed to be provided for just 2 viewpoints. We consider that 
a full night-time assessment is required as part of the LVIA - as well as consideration of glint and glare. 
We would be happy to provide a perspective on which viewpoint would be appropriate once we have 
had the opportunity of seeing the day-time viewpoints. 

6. The statutory and planning section of the Environmental Statement (ES) should draw upon the Brecon 
Beacons National Park current Management Plan 2015-2020. This is the document which sets out the 
Special Qualities of the National Park. Planning Policy Wales (PPW) requires that the special qualities 
of designated areas are given weight in the development planning and development management 
process.  Therefore this document (as well as the Special Qualities) will need to be carefully 
considered as part of the Environmental Impact Assessment process. Please note initial work is 
underway regarding a new Management Plan.

7. Photomontages are requested of all viewpoints from within the National Park irrespective of whether 
they are within the 20km distance or not.

8. The chapters in the Environmental Statement need to consider of the impact of the proposal on the 
special qualities of the National Park. Particular special qualities the Authority is concerned about 
relate to: 
 “A National Park offering peace and tranquillity with opportunities for quiet enjoyment, inspiration, 

relaxation and spiritual renewal”. 
 “The Park’s sweeping grandeur and outstanding natural beauty observed across a variety of 

harmoniously connected landscapes, including marvellous gorges and waterfalls, classic karst geology 
with caves and sink holes, contrasting glacial landforms such as cliffs and broad valleys carved from old 
red sandstone and prominent hilltops with extensive views in all directions”.

Page 62



Report for information and noting

P
age 63



Report for information and noting

21/20082/FRI N: 211757
E: 320063

Brynmawr Ben Wards 
Fields
Brynmawr
Ebbw Vale

Fringe 
Comments

23/07/2021

We understand Costain Limited has submitted a planning application to Blaenau Gwent CBC for the 
retention of earthworks created as a result of additional materials arising from the construction of the 
Heads of the Valleys dualling section 2 and has required placing at Ben Wards Fields, outside of the 
Highways Orders Land. The red outline for this proposal is located entirely in Blaenau Gwent but eastern 
parts are immediately adjacent to the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (NPA) boundary.

The main differences between the 2016 consented scheme and the new retrospective planning application 
appear as follows:

- Final landform contours plans for Areas 1 and 2, and the arrangement of drainage ditches/ 
attenuation basins (as shown on the drawings) will be different, given the additional volume of 
material that is to be accommodated and the new landforms proposed;

- Area 2 will include a ‘plateau’ area which has the potential to provide suitable habitat for lapwings. 
This will generally be finished at or about 410m AOD;

- The new retrospective planning application will exclude Area 3 and, as such, less existing 
vegetation will be shown as requiring removal;

- A new alignment is proposed for NCN492 Sustrans route. This is the route that is shown in the 
2016 consented scheme as a ‘temporary route’ to be used until the scheme was completed. This 
has been built to meet the specification for the permanent route and is at a finished level which 
accommodates the raised landform in Area 1. As such, its current alignment and levels will not 
need altering. 

We set out below some background on the NPA’s policy and legal context. The letter ends with our 
comments on the planning application submission which was made available on the Council’s website. 

Policy and legal context  
Section 63 of the Environment Act (1995) sets out the statutory purposes of the National Park as follows:- 

 To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National Park; 
and 

 To promote opportunities for the public understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of 
the National Park 

 
In accordance with section 62(2) of the Environment, any relevant Authority shall have regard to National 
Park purposes when performing any functions in relation to, or so as to affect, land in a National Park.  
Relevant Authorities include public bodies, government departments, local authorities and statutory 
undertakers. 
 
The Special Qualities of the National Park may be significantly impacted by development proposals on the 
fringes of the National Park. The Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan 2015-2020 defines the 
Special Qualities of the Brecon Beacons National Park as follows: 

 A National Park offering peace and tranquillity with opportunities for quiet enjoyment, 
inspiration, relaxation and spiritual renewal.

 A feeling of vitality and healthfulness that comes from enjoying the Park’s fresh air, clean 
water, rural setting, open land and locally produced foods. 

Page 64



Report for information and noting

 A sense of place and cultural identity - “Welshness” - characterised by the use of the 
indigenous Welsh language, religious and spiritual connections, unique customs and events, 
traditional foods and crafts, relatively unspoilt historic towns, villages and family farms. The 
continued practices of traditional skills developed by local inhabitants to live and earn a living here, 
such as common land practices and grazing. 

 A sense of discovery where people are able to explore the Park’s hidden secrets and stories 
such as genealogical histories, prehistoric ritual sites, medieval rural settlements, early industrial 
sites, local myths, legends and geological treasures. 

 The Park’s sweeping grandeur and outstanding natural beauty observed across a variety 
of harmoniously connected landscapes, including marvellous gorges and waterfalls, classic 
karst geology with caves and sink holes, contrasting glacial landforms such as cliffs and broad 
valleys carved from old red sandstone and prominent hilltops with extensive views in all 
directions. 

 A working, living “patchwork” of contrasting patterns, colours, and 
textures comprising of well-maintained farmed landscapes, open uplands, lakes and meandering 
rivers punctuated by small-scale woodlands, country lanes, hedgerows, stone walls and scattered 
settlements. 

 Extensive and widespread access to the Park’s diversity of wildlife and richness of 
semi-natural habitats, such as native woodlands, heathland and grassland, natural lakes and 
riparian habitats, ancient hedgerows, limestone pavement and blanket bogs including those of 
international and national importance. 

 In the context of the UK, geographically rugged, remote and challenging landscapes. 
 Enjoyable and accessible countryside with extensive, widespread and varied opportunities 

to pursue walking, cycling, fishing, water-based activities and other forms of sustainable 
recreation or relaxation. 

 An intimate sense of community where small, pastoral towns and villages are comparatively 
safe, friendly, welcoming and retain a spirit of cooperation. 

 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) (Edition 11) acknowledges the statutory purposes of National Parks and 
references the “Sandford Principle”, whereby if there is a conflict between the statutory purposes, greater 
weight shall be given to the first purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty, wildlife and 
cultural heritage. PPW states that “planning authorities have a statutory duty to have regard to National Parks 
and AONB purposes. This duty applies in relation to all activities affecting National Parks and AONBs, whether 
those activities lie within, or in the setting of, the designated areas” (see para 6.3.5).  
 
Planning Application Submission 
We have reviewed the submission – principally the following:

 Landscape/Townscape and Visual Effects Assessment
 Ecology Report (incl. Mitigation Area Management Plan
 Landscape and Ecology Implementation and Aftercare Plan
 Environmental Statement and Design and Access Statement. 

We consider the key issues which have the potential to impact on the National Park Authority’s statutory 
purposes and special qualities are in relation to landscape and visual impact and ecology. We make the 
following comments on the submission: 

National Park Boundary
The BBNPA boundary is plotted incorrectly on the site location plan. Please find attached plan showing 
correct boundary.
 

Page 65



Report for information and noting

Landscape and Visual matters 
The National Park Authority makes the following on the LVIA 
 

 The study area and viewpoints selected are considered appropriate 
 The Blaenavon Tips landscape character area would receive a Slight adverse significance of effect 

as the Scheme would be partly visible within views from this character area, whereas, with the 
consented scheme, it would not. However after ten years, although will be some residual effects 
upon this view and others within the BBNPA area they would not be significant. 

 The comments of NRW regarding landscape are supported. 
 
Ecology
The following observations are made in relation to ecology:

1. There are a number of drainage ditches across the site and the land slopes down to the north 
and into the National Park. It will be important to ensure that water quality is appropriately 
protected. 

2. It is also noted that the application site is within the River Usk SAC catchment and that NRW 
have advised that No Likely Significant Effects on the SAC are anticipated as a result of 
additional phosphorus in the catchment. 

3. I understand that the application is retrospectively for the retention of works already 
undertaken. It is not entirely clear if the works are complete or if any further works are 
proposed. If further works are required, the requirement for a CEMP as recommended by 
NRW is supported.

4. Areas 1 and 2 are outside the National Park boundary and I support the BG ecologist’s 
comments that the information submitted (the Landscape and Ecology Implementation and 
Aftercare Plan) addresses the proposed restoration and management of the site.

5. There is some uncertainty regarding the Mitigation Area and the former Unilateral Undertaking 
from 2016. This land is within the National Park and it will be important to ensure that habitats 
are appropriately managed, even if the focus on lapwing habitat has shifted due to issues with 
predators. I would welcome additional clarification of what is now proposed in this area and 
how this is to be secured; it presumably is beyond the remit of Blaenau Gwent Local Planning 
Authority as it is within the National Park? It may be that the existing UU is sufficient but I have 
not found a copy of it and I am unclear as to whether it will remain valid in the light of this new 
application or will be superseded. Clarification of this matter is therefore sought.

To summarise, there is no ecological objection to the principle of the development proposals and the 
retention of the works undertaken along with the restoration and management of habitats as agreed 
with the BG Ecologist. Clarification is however sought as to the proposed ongoing management of the 
Mitigation Area and how this is to be secured.

Page 66



Report for information and noting

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



C:6599050v1

               Planning Obligations
11th August 2021

Key:

AH – Affordable Housing    BIO – Biodiversity    COF – Community Facility    EDU – Education    HER – Heritage    HIW – Highways/Transport   
AF – Affordable Housing Contributions   OTH – Other    
REC – Recreation/Open Space/Footpath    RED – Rural Enterprise Dwelling/Land Tie

 With other party/parties                  With the Authority / Authority’s external solicitors

Application
Number

Applicant/
Developer

Site/
Location

Development/
Proposal

Planning
Obligations

Committee 
Date

Date 
Completed

Current
Status

18/15820/CON Mrs Judith Tuthill Coed Farm, Fforest Coalpit Deed of Variation Deed of 
Variation N/A (Delegated) 

19/17247/FUL Miss J Phillips Tircue Beasthouse, Cantref, Powys, 
Brecon LD3 8LL

Change of use from holiday let to farming family 
residential dwelling AF/OTHER 

19/17839/CON Mr David Sutton Land At Pengellifach Farm, Vaynor , 
Nr Merthyr Tydfil CF48 2TU  

Modification of Section 106 associated with 
application MT18635

Deed of 
Variation 

19/18050/CON Mr Matthew Hall Land Adjacent To Cerrigcochion 
Road, Brecon, Powys  

Written request for a deed of variation to a planning 
obligation agreed under Section 106 of the town and 
country planning act 1990 for planning permission 
16/13596/FUL

Deed of 
Variation 

19/17602/FUL Ms Sara Tommerup Red Pig Farm, Llangadog SA19 9DR
One Planet Development – one household, barn 
extensions, various new small sheds and a green 
house

Management 
plan and land 

tie


20/18303/CON Dr Nicholas Humes
Former Darenfelin School, 
Darenfelin, Llanelly Hill Abergavenny 
Monmouthshire

With regard to affordable housing contributions or 
construction of affordable housing units, the 
removal of clauses 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 
and 15 of the Second Schedule of the Planning 
Obligations agreement dated the 22nd August 2012 
reference planning permission 07/00755/COU.  The 
removal of the all requirements stated in the deed of 
variation dated 25th February 2014.

Deed of 
Variation 

20/18421/OUT Mr and Mrs Yates Baytree, Church Road, Gilwern, 
Mounmouthshire NP7 0EL

Demolition of existing structures/buildings and 
construction of one open market dwelling (outline 
planning application with all matters reserved)

AF 

20/18987/CON Mr John Morris Graig Barn Farmhouse, Llangenny, Deed of Release of the Section 106 associated with 
application 10/05975/FUL

Deed of 
Release 30/07/21

P
age 69

E
N

C
8Item

 4



C:6599050v1

Application
Number

Applicant/
Developer

Site/
Location

Development/
Proposal

Planning
Obligations

Committee 
Date

Date 
Completed

Current
Status

20/19255/CON Helen Williams 1 Coed y Bryn, Bwlch, Brecon, Powys, 
Brecon

Application to vary condition 2 pursuant to planning 
permission 17/15496/FUL ("Erection of a two-storey 
dwelling") to reduce the scale of the building

AF 

21/19439/CON Mr Samuel Organ

LAMB House, 17 Newport Street, 
Hay-on-Wye, Powys and Land on the 
south-east side of Chantic,
Wyeford Road, Hay On Wye, 
Hereford (HR3 5BJ).

Variation of Condition 2 and removal of conditions 9 
(holiday use only) 10, 11 and 12 of 17/15157/FUL 

Deed of 
Variation 12/07/21

20/19398/FUL Mr And Mrs Casa Autumn View, Lower Common, 
Gilwern, Abergavenny NP7 0EE

Conversion of the existing residential annexe to 
tourist accommodation (Holiday Let) and variation or 
discharge of S106 dated 11 August 2016 pertaining 
to 16/13183/FUL, to allow for the use of the building 
as a holiday let.

Deed of 
Variation 

N.B- Columns highlighted yellow are updates of new planning obligations since last PAROW

N.B. Columns highlighted blue indicate that the matter has been withdrawn/aborted   

P
age 70



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Internal Reporting: Planning Performance Figures

From: 01 JULY 2021 to 31 JULY 2021

APPROVALS
GRANTED REFUSED %APPROVED
34 1 97
8 WEEK PERFORMANCE
Under8Weeks  Over8Weeks 8Wks%
21 14 60
HOUSEHOLDER 8 WEEK PERFORMANCE
Under8Weeks Over8Weeks 8Wks%
7 7 50
AGREED EXTENSIONS PERFORMANCE
AEunder AEover AE%
28 1 96.5
AGE OF APPLICATIONS
>8Wks >13Wks  >16Wks >2Yrs
89 55 44 2

Analysis of applications on hand

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDAugust
2020 68 60 88.2 43 171

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDSeptember
2020 25 24 96.0 22 175

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDOctober
2020 47 44 93.6 23 195

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDNovember
2020 60 46 76.7 54 198

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDDecember
2020 50 38 76.0 51 209

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDJanuary
2021 57 48 84.2 60 197

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDFebruary
2021 54 50 92.6 45 202

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDMarch
2021 56 49 87.5 41 219

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDApril
2021 60 49 81.7 40 230

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDMay
2021 52 44 84.6 43 236

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDJune 2021
36 31 86 40 228
RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDJuly 2021
51 42 82.4 35 241

Page 71

ENC8Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Planning, Access, and Rights of Way Committee
Planning Enforcement Figures

Page 1 of 3

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT FIGURES

Welsh Government Performance Indicators and Authority Enforcement figures

The Welsh Government Performance Indicators were changed in June 2017. The software used by the Authority 
was not set up to operate in the way the Indicators required the information to be captured. This has now been 
resolved and Officers are now working to the new indicators.  However, due to the overlap between the two 
ways of working the ‘Investigated in 84 days or Fewer’ figure will be low for the next few months. Please refer to 
relevant definition information at the end of this report. 

Number of 
new cases 
received

InvestigatedA 
in 84 days or 

fewer

Investigated 
in more 
than 84 

days

Resolved in 
180 days or 

fewer

Resolved in 
more than 
180 days

May
2019

10 12 3 6 5

WG Performance Indicators
Number of 
new cases 
received

Investigated1 
in 84 days or 

fewer

Investigated 
in more 
than 84 

days

Average 
time taken 
(days) from 
investigation 
complete to 

positive 
action2 
taken

Closed

February 2021 7 2 0 244 3

March 2021 13 2 3 0 5

April 2021 9 4 3 0 6

May 2021 7 1 0 0 2

June 2021 17 1 5 363 8

July 2021 10 2 2 0 4

Page 73

ENC8Item 6



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Planning, Access, and Rights of Way Committee
Planning Enforcement Figures

Page 2 of 3

Current Cases 

Current Cases 
(under 180 days)

Backlog Cases (over 
180 days)

Total Cases

May
2019

31 79 110

Current Cases 
(under 84 days)

Current Cases (over 84 
days)

Total Cases

February 2021 18 120 138

March 2021 23 124 147

April 2021 22 126 148

May 2021 21 132 153

June 2021 26 134 160

July 2021 23 140 163

Relevant Definitions 

1Investigated means that the Authority has considered the alleged breach of planning control and advised the 
complainant of the investigation findings which will be one of the following:

i) No breach has occurred or breach has been removed;
ii) Breach has occurred but Authority has formally determined that enforcement action is not expedient;
iii) Enforcement action is expedient and delegated report authorising such has been signed off;
iv) Receipt of valid planning application;
v) Breach has occurred and enforcement action would be expedient but informal negotiations have agreed 

that changes can make the development acceptable or that it will be removed.

2Positive Action means the complainant has been advised that one of the following has occurred following the 
conclusion that it would be expedient to enforce against the established breach. 

i) There has been a formal determination that a breach is expedient but informal negotiation subsequently 
removes the breach;

ii) An Enforcement Notice is issued. An Enforcement Notice includes a Stop Notice, Breach of Condition 
Notice, Enforcement Warning Notice, Untidy Land Notice (section 215 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990), any type of Listed Building Enforcement Notice, Tree Replacement Notice, 
Hedgerow Replacement Notice or Completion Notice, but does not include a Planning Contravention 
Notice, Section 330 Notice (of the Town and Country  Planning Act 1990), Temporary Stop Notice or 
Requisition for Information;

iii) Planning permission is subsequently granted through an application or enforcement appeal;
iv) A prosecution is brought (with the date that the case is first heard deemed as being the ‘positive 

action’ date); or
v) Direct action by the Authority removes the breach.

NB.  This figure has yet to be benchmarked and a target set by Welsh Government

Closed means the case has been closed either because the outcome of the investigation was i) or ii) above or 
the breach has ceased following positive action. 

Page 74



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Planning, Access, and Rights of Way Committee
Planning Enforcement Figures

Page 3 of 3

A The previous definition of ‘investigated’ meant that the Authority had visited, drawn a conclusion on what action 
was to be taken and had informed the complainant. 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



SCHEDULE 12A LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972
EXEMPTION FROM DISCLOSURE OF DOCUMENTS

REPORTS: Delegated Decision Enforcement Reports 

AUTHORS: Enforcement Officers

MEETING AND DATE OF 
MEETING:

Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee
7th September 2021

I have considered grounds for exemption of information contained in the report referred to 
above and make the following recommendation to the Proper Officer:-

Exemptions applying to the report:

 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of a particular person
 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 

prevention, investigation, or prosecution of crime. 

Factors in favour of disclosure:

 Facilitate the accountability and transparency of our decisions; 
 Facilitate accountability and transparency in the spending of public money; 
 Allow individuals to understand decisions made by the authority

Prejudice which would result if the information were disclosed:

 Disclose the identity of individuals prior to a decision being taken whether or not to 
take action – causing unnecessary concern to the individual and public opprobrium if 
proceedings are not pursued.

 Prejudice potential judicial proceedings

Page 77

ENC9Item 1



My view on the public interest test is as follows:

I have considered the enforcement cases contained within the aforementioned reports to be 
presented to PAROW on the 7th September 2021 and have measured each case against the 
public interest test.  For the reasons outlined above, I consider that the factors in favour of 
disclosure are outweighed by those against. 

Recommended decision on exemption from disclosure:

For the reasons set out above, it is recommended that the information contained within these 
enforcement reports is exempt from disclosure.

Date:  20th August 2021

Signed:    

Post:  Principal Planning Officer

I accept the recommendation made above.

______________________________
                   Proper Officer

Date: 23rd August 2021

Page 78



Document is Restricted

Page 79

ENC9Item 2
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13, 17, 18 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	ENC4 Minutes of last meeting
	ENC5 Confirmed Minutes LAF 3rd Meeting 8th April 2021
	ENC7 Non Delegated Report 21 19717 FUL Bolgoed Maen Farm
	ENC8Item 1 Committee Delegated List Sept 2021
	ENC8Item 2 Agricultural Notifications Delegated to the National Park Officers Sept 2021
	ENC8Item 3 Fringe Applications Sept 2021
	ENC8Item 4 PAROW Planning Obligation Report August 2021
	ENC8Item 5 PAROW Development Management Statistics July 2021
	ENC8Item 6 Enforcement July figures 2021
	ENC9Item 1 20210907  Exemption Certificate - Enforcement Delegated Decision Reports
	ENC9Item 2 ENF PAROW Report  September 2021 - Confidential

